
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Regulatory Board 
(Planning)

Members of the Regulatory Board (Planning) of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on 
Wednesday, 6 February 2019 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;



A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

a) 20140550 - Demolition of existing building and erection of a 
four/five storey building at Former Guru Nanak Gurdwara, Clarence 
Place, Gravesend - report herewith

(Pages 7 - 62)

b) 20181206 - Gurdwara Temple Guru Nanak Marg, Gravesend - 
report herewith

(Pages 63 - 70)

c) 20181155 - Installation of Polytunnels at Land West of Northfleet 
Green, Gravesend - report herewith

(Pages 71 - 84)

d) 20181030 - St Andrew's Arts Centre, Royal Pier Road, Gravesend - 
report herewith

(Pages 85 - 94)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Housing & Regeneration) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Michael Wenban (Chair)
Cllr Robin Theobald (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Burden
Lee Croxton
Bronwen McGarrity
Brian Sangha
Lauren Sullivan

Substitutes: To be notified

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ




This page is intentionally left blank



1

Regulatory Board (Planning)

Wednesday, 9 January 2019 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Michael Wenban (Chair)
Cllr Robin Theobald (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Burden
Bronwen McGarrity
Brian Sangha
Lauren Sullivan

Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services (Medway)
Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)
Christopher Butler Planning Manager (Development Management)
Richard Hart Principal Planner (Major Sites)
Ethan Bonthron Career Grade Planner
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

32. Apologies for absence 

There were no apologies for absence received.

33. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 28 November 2018 were signed by the Chair.

34. Declarations of Interest 

All Members present at the meeting made a voluntary announcement of another interest in 
respect of application 20181228 in that they all knew Councillor Lenny Rolles who was one 
of the applicants.

35. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

None.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Regulatory Board (Planning) 9.01.2019

2

36. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

36.1 20181228: 8 Warwick Gardens Meopham DA13 0PJ 

The Board considered an application for the construction of a two storey rear extension 
which included two dormers in the roof of the extension. The proposed extension would 
create an enlarged kitchen/dining area at ground level and an additional bedroom with an 
ensuite at first floor level.

The Board was advised that no objections had been received from neighbours or the Parish 
Council despite a re-consultation.

A comment was made about the lack of window in the dormer on the first floor of the western 
side of the house. Members were advised that this addition was intended to add to the 
available headspace in the room and mitigate any issues of overlooking. It was also noted 
this had been how the application had been submitted to the Council and officers had not 
sought to intercede to change this element of the design as it was not visible from a public 
vantage point.

Resolved that application 20181228 be PERMITTED subject to the planning 
conditions as set out in the report.

37. Reports For Information 

37.1 Proposed Amendments to the Constitution - Delegations 

The Board was informed that a full review of the Constitution was being undertaken by the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer assisted by the Deputy Monitoring Officer. The Head of Legal 
Services advised that the report related to updates to Annexes 1.11, 1.12 and 1.13 to reflect 
recent changes in personnel and roles following a restructure. Recent legislation had been 
added where appropriate and legislation that had been repealed had been deleted. The 
report was presented to the Board for information because of the inclusion of changes to 
Licensing, for which the Board had a delegated responsibility, and would be submitted to 
Cabinet and Council for decision.

The officer was advised that the track changes and comments which showed the 
amendments and reasons for the changes to the text of the Constitution were very useful. 
The Head of legal Services agreed to use this approach wherever possible.

Resolved that the report be noted.

38. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Housing & Regeneration) 

A schedule showing applicants determined by the Director (Housing & Regeneration) under 
delegated powers had been published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 7.17 pm

Page 6



  

SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20140550

Site Address: Former Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara, Clarence Place, 
Gravesend, Kent, DA12 1LD.

Application 
Description:

Demolition of existing building and erection of a four/five storey 
building to accommodate 16 two bedroom and 3 one bedroom 
self-contained flats with 19 parking spaces, cycle storage 
provision and bin stores at basement level.

Applicant: Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara

Agent: BHD Architects LLP

Ward: Central

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 4 September 2014

Publicity expiry date: 21 January 2019

Decision level: Planning Regulatory Board – 6 February 2019

Reasons for referral: The discretion of Planning Manager ( Development Management) 
taking into account the scale of member and local interest in the site

Recommendation: Conclusion and a recommendation will be made in a 
supplementary report.

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description 

1.1 The application site is located on the north side of Clarence Place. The 
existing building has been vacant for approximately 9 years. Previously it was 
used as a Sikh Temple and was the former Milton Congregational Church and 
is a landmark building within the Windmill Hill Conservation Area.  The site 
has a frontage of some 28 metres and a depth of 32 metres on the west side 
and a depth of 37 metres on the east side.

1.2 The building presents a façade towards Clarence Place in gothic revival style, 
displaying features in the design and overall composition that makes it 
identifiable as an early work of the architect Sir John Sulman.  Since its 
original construction in the 19th century, the building has undergone a series 
of changes which have compromised the building to a degree.  These 
changes include rendering of the front of the building and some 
unsympathetic extensions to the side and rear. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5a



1.3 Topography of the site is one in which the site slopes on a steep gradient 
from Clarence Place down to the level of William Street to the north. Directly 
to the east of the site two storey semi-detached dwelling and directly to the 
west of the site are 3 storey semi-detached dwellings.

2. Site Background & Relevant Planning History

2.1 The relevant planning history for the site is as follows:

20090487 - Demolition of existing building and erection of two, four storey 
linked buildings with undercroft parking and vehicular access on to William 
Street, to provide a total of 19 self-contained flats, comprising 16 two bedroom 
and three, one bedroom flats and erection of two, two storey three bedroom 
dwellings at the rear fronting William Street.  Withdrawn 10.07.2014

20090488 - Application for Conservation Area Consent for the demolition of the 
building.  Withdrawn 10.07.2014

3. Proposal 

3.1 The proposal is for the demolition of existing building and erection of a four/five 
storey building to accommodate 16 two bedroom and 3 one bedroom self-
contained flats with 19 parking spaces, cycle storage provision and bin stores at 
basement level. The applicant consists of the following documents/plans:

 Drawing No.3208-PD001 A – Site Plans
 Drawing No.3208-PD-002 A – Floor Plans
 Drawing No.3208-PD-003 A – Elevations
 Drawing No.3208-PD-004 A – Proposed Demolition Plan
 Drawing No.3208-PD-005 A – Site Section A-A & Site Section B-B
 Drawing No.3208-PD-006 A – Roof Plan

In addition the following supporting documents have been submitted

 Subsidiary Planning Statement (11th October 2018)
 Marketing Summary (24 September 2018)  
 Daylight/Sunlight Assessment (September 2018)

 Agent Covering letter (3 June 2014)
 Heritage Assessment (April 2015)
 Heritage Collective letter (1 September 2015)
 Bat Survey (October 2017)
 Bat Survey (June 2016)
 Bat Survey (September 2015)
 Design & Access Statement

3.2 It should be noted that that this proposal was initially put before the Regulatory 
Board on 12 April 2017 but was deferred so that all the issues raised within 
Historic England’s letter and neighbour representations  have been adequately 
addressed. 

Page 8



3.3 In order to do address the concerns raised by Members and the case officer  
the applicant has been working to address (but not limited to) undertaking 
revised marketing, addressing the impact on the setting of the listed war 
memorial, daylight, overshadowing, bat surveys and general neighbour 
concerns raised during the consultation process.

4. Development Plan and other Relevant Planning Policies and Guidance

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
• CS01 – Sustainable Development
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
• CS10 – Physical and Social Infrastructure
• CS11 – Transport
• CS12 - Green Infrastructure
• CS14 – Housing Type and Size
• CS15 - Housing Density
• CS16 - Affordable Housing
• CS18 - Climate Change
• CS19 - Development and Design Principles
• CS20 - Heritage and the Historic Environment 

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
• T1: Impact of Development on the Highway Network
• T5: New Accesses onto Highway Network
• TC2: Listed Buildings
• TC3: Development Affecting
• P3: Vehicle Parking Standards

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2018)
• Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
• Section 4 – Decision-making
• Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
• Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 
• Section 11 – Making effective use of land
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
• Section 16- Conserving and enhancing the historic environment.

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
• Windmill Hill Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2009)
• Management Plan (Gravesend 19th Century Suburban Conservation Areas 

(2009) (NB. Includes Windmill Hill Conservation Area)

4.1  Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
places a general duty in respect to conservation areas when exercising planning 
functions. In particular it requires that Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) pay 
special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of a Conservation Area.

5. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Page 9



Consultations

Internal 

GBC – Conservation Architect

15th January 2019
To summarise, the applicant’s justification for replacing the existing building is 
based on viability and housing supply and in normal circumstances this would 
offer weight to the proposals.  However due to the building being classified as 
a non-designated heritage asset (NDHA) the decision maker must place 
considerable weight on its demolition and any harm caused to the setting of 
the conservation area (a designated heritage asset), the adjacent heritage 
asset, namely the war memorial, and the non-designated heritage asset itself.

Regarding the design of the replacement building, its scale and bulk can be 
justified in the context of the scale and bulk of the existing church.  The scale 
of building contributes to the appearance of the conservation area when seen 
from Windmill Hill, where it acts as a focal point in long views (Rouge Lane 
and Windmill Hill).  There are examples of the juxtaposition of varying building 
scale to the west of the site in Clarence Place as well as varying heights of 
buildings in Windmill Street (70-71 Windmill Street and four storey buildings 
opposite Clarence Place).  The flank walls of the proposal could be articulated 
with blind windows to offer some relief.  The matter of quality in appearance 
should be conditioned, requiring large scale detail drawings to ensure that 
appropriate details and materials are achieved for the external appearance of 
the proposal.  Conditions should include details for external landscaping and 
boundary railings/walls, etc.

It is considered that the setting of the war memorial will not be adversely 
affected.  The setting of the war memorial is directly impacted on by the 
houses opposite it and the surrounding gardens, which form the most 
important setting for the war memorial.  Although we have discussed whether 
or not there is any historic link between the existing building and the grade II 
listed war memorial located in the gardens opposite the application site, no 
evidence has come to light that might contribute to the significance of either 
heritage asset. 

The existing building is a defined as a non-designated heritage asset, 
confirmed in the conservation area appraisal and as such its demolition must 
be considered in the light of national policy.  On the matter of future viability of 
the NDHA Historic England and I have advised on this matter and have 
repeatedly raised concerns with the approach the applicants agents have 
taken to marketing the building in order to establish viability for conversion to 
alternative uses.  

Relevant heritage clauses of the NPPF

192 (a).
In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of:
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 
assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

193.

Page 10



When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial 
harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.

194.
Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from 
its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should 
require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:

a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, 
should be exceptional;

b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, 
protected wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed 
buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World 
Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional

195.
Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss 
of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities 
should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial 
harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 
outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following apply:
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; 
and
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term 
through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or 
public ownership is demonstrably not possible; and
d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into 
use.

196.
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use.

197.
The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage 
asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing 
applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm 
or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.

198. Local planning authorities should not permit the loss of the whole or part 
of a heritage asset without taking all reasonable steps to ensure the new 
development will proceed after the loss has occurred.

199.
Local planning authorities should require developers to record and advance 
understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or 
in part) in a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to 
make this evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible64. 

Page 11



However, the ability to record evidence of our past should not be a factor in 
deciding whether such loss should be permitted.

The following recent case as concludes a need to take a holistic approach to 
the NDHA and the conservation area.

Dorothy Bohm v SSCLG [2017] EWHC 3217 Judgement sheds light on the 
approach to a non-designated heritage asset in a conservation area.  This is 
relevant to this application.  The judgement clarifies that just because 
something is a ‘positive contributor’, the Local Planning Authority (LPA) 
should not automatically protect it from demolition/redevelopment like those 
that are designated assets.

The scheme needs to be considered as a whole, including the replacement 
and any public benefits arising from the proposal in terms of the impact on the 
Conservation Area, with the demolition being just one element. The 
Inspector’s judgement concluded that the loss of the positively-contributing 
NDHA did not result in harm to the Conservation Area but noted that the 
replacement building’s acceptable design would preserve the character of the 
Conservation Area.

29th December 2015
The conservation area appraisal describes the building as a “feature building 
in views along the street”. On the maps it is indicated as a building of local 
interest making a positive contribution to the conservation area and views of it 
from the Windmill Hill Gardens. 

There are two issues to consider.  The loss of the building of local interest 
and the impact on the conservation area.

The following questions need to be answered in order to determine this 
proposal.

1. Is there no other beneficial use for the existing building and has this 
been established by the applicant?  This requires financial appraisal of 
the site, conversion costs and end value to establish/prove viability or 
non-viability.  Assuming this has been undertaken then the question 
has been answered.

2. Is partial retention of the front of the building possible within any 
proposal for the site?  This is part of the first question in respect of 
options for re-use of the existing building.  Assuming this has been 
undertaken then the question has been answered.

3. Has the building been marketed and redundancy of the heritage asset 
been demonstrated?

Once the above have been established then the proposal can be given due 
consideration. 

Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 states that:
“…with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area,…, 
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of that area.”

Page 12



An unlisted building that makes a positive contribution to a conservation area 
is individually of lesser importance than a listed building (paragraph 132 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2012). If the building is important or 
integral to the character or appearance of the conservation area then its 
demolition is more likely to amount to substantial harm to the conservation 
area, engaging the tests in paragraph 133 the National Planning Policy 
Framework. However, the justification for its demolition will still be 
proportionate to the relative significance of the building and its contribution to 
the significance of the conservation area as a whole.

I do not disagree with the agent’s heritage consultant that the harm caused to 
the conservation area is less than substantial (2012 NPPF Para 134). The 
decision maker must then give great weight to the less than substantial harm 
caused by the demolition of the heritage asset within the conservation area 
and in accordance with the NPPF must balance the harm caused against the 
public benefits.  It is considered that on balance the replacement building will 
have a neutral impact on the conservation area, this being subject to detailed 
conditions for the external envelope of the proposed building, along with 
boundary railings, walls and landscaping.

Once the above questions have been answered in respect of the building of 
local interest, then I raise no adverse comments.

29th July 2014
This is a renewal of a previously approved proposal.  There is an 
improvement in that residential units fronting onto William Street have been 
omitted from this iteration.  I am concerned at the lack of rear gates to the car 
park, which appears to be left open at all times.  This will need to be 
addressed for security and aesthetic reasons; my preference would be to see 
timber gates or railings fronting onto William Street, of an appropriate design.
I would recommend conditions for all external materials and detailed drawings 
and landscaping to be submitted at the appropriate scale.

GBC – Highway Engineer 

2nd January 2019
The additional information submitted does not appear to relate to highway 
matters, I have no comments to make.

13th November 2015
I have checked the layout of the development, access, sightlines and 
parking and find all to be acceptable.The applicant should contact the 
Council about parking restrictions and a disabled parking bay along 
William Street which may have to be amended in the context of the 
proposed entrance.  The 19 parking spaces in the basement should remain 
unallocated to residents of the development.

GBC Housing Strategy Manager 

The borough has a significant need for affordable housing and has therefore set 
a target of 30% affordable housing delivery on all new private housing 
developments of 15 dwellings or more in the urban area, therefore equating to 
an affordable housing obligation on the above site of 6 units.

Page 13



GBC Regulatory Services

There is no objection to the proposed application, subject to the following 
comments:

Contaminated land

No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a 
contaminated land assessment (in accordance with the CLEA guidelines and 
CLR 11 methodology) and if necessary an associated remedial strategy, 
together with a timetable of works, being submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval.

Domestic Refuse Arrangements - Multiple Occupation 

Each dwelling should have sufficient storage capacity to cope with the waste 
generated in between collections (1 week).  A large internal/external storage 
area should be considered where there is more than one dwelling contained in 
a domestic block.  The distance between the storage area and the collection 
point shall not be more than 30 metres.

Works of Construction.

The commencement of the development shall not take place until a 
comprehensive Code of Construction Practice covering all environmental 
impacts including pest control from the clearance/construction phase of this 
development is provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the 
LPA. No works shall commence until approval of this report has been given by 
the LPA 

External

Kent County Council

29th November 2018
Financial request of £912.30 for library book stock.

27th June 2014
Financial request of £40,382.92 towards community learning, youth facilitates, 
and local libraries.

Kent Police

27th December 2018
Comments of 29th July 2014 remain valid

10th April 2017
Comments of 29th July 2014 remain valid

29th July 2014
No contact has been made by the developer in relation to crime prevention 
and if permission is to be granted Kent Police would require a condition 
requiring details of how the development will meet the physical security 
requirements of crime prevention through environmental design (CPTED).

Kent Fire & Rescue

Page 14



I can confirm that the means of access is considered satisfactory.

Historic England 

For the avoidance of doubt Historic England provided formal comments on 
14th November 2018 (Attached as appendix 1)
11th April 2017 (Attached as appendix 2)
14th October 2014 (attached as appendix 3)

Historic England latest comments dated 14 November 2018 are attached as 
appendix 3 to this report and Historic England comments conclude with the 
following:

It is for your Council to decide whether the marketing exercise was sufficiently 
robust to provide the clear and convincing justification required here in the 
manner set out in Paragraph 194 of the NPPF (2018) and where harm arises 
from the loss of a building which makes a positive contribution to the 
character and appearance of the Windmill Hill Conservation Area. We would 
be pleased to provide further advice if that would be helpful, but please note it 
is likely this would need to include for a site visit which could delay a decision 
about this matter.

Urban Gravesham

Urban Gravesham object to the proposal on 5 grounds which are as follows:

1. The assessment of the significance of the building has not been carried out 
in accordance with accepted guidance and does not reflect the importance of 
the building.
2. Demolition of the building will harm the unique character of the 
Conservation Area.
3. It has not been demonstrated that the retention of the building is unviable.
4. The replacement building is inappropriate in scale and character.
5. The proposal is contrary to local and national planning policies. 

SAVE Britain’s Heritage (SAVE)

Takes the view that substantial harm will be caused to the Conservation Area, 
in which the temple is identified as a ‘positive building’, a ‘focal building’, and 
a ‘building of local interest’, and its demolition is not therefore consistent with 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) or the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.
 Advertising the building significantly higher than it is worth cannot be 

considered as a suitable marketing exercise. In addition, we understand a 
local group are preparing proposals for reuse of the building, indicating 
that alternatives exist to demolition.

 Due to the harm caused by demolition to both designated and 
undesignated heritage assets, harm that we contend would be 
substantial, and that alternatives to demolition exist and are being 
prepared, this application cannot be justified and must be refused 
planning permission.

Natural England

Page 15



Thank you for consulting Natural England on the above Appropriate 
Assessments (AAs).

Please be advised that on the basis of the appropriate financial contributions 
being secured to the Birdwise Strategic Access Management and Monitoring 
Strategy, Natural England concurs with your authority’s conclusion that this is 
suitable mitigation, as such the proposed developments will not have an 
adverse effect on the integrity of the European protected site(s). Should the 
proposal change, please consult us again.

Kent County Council Highways and transportation 

13th April 2017
No highway implications 

24th July 2014
The proposals in question comply with KCC's IGN3 guidance in respect of off-
street parking provision for residential units. However, I would advise that you 
also seek a view from your engineer regarding parking provision as a result of 
Gravesham's retention of the SPG4 parking standards for residential 
development.

Furthermore, it is noted that the proposed arrangement differs from the 
previous 2009 proposal in that the proposed structure fronts directly onto the 
back edge of the footway in William Street on either side of the proposed 
access rather than being slightly set back as it was previously. This would 
appear to potentially have an adverse impact on sight line visibility at the 
proposed access and I would therefore recommend that available sight line 
splays be projected onto an appropriate scale plan of the access from a 2m 
set back from the channel line at the centre of the proposed access in order 
to better assess available sight line visibility. It would be acceptable for splays 
to be projected laterally to a point measured 1m out from the kerb face in 
either direction.

 
Publicity

Original Publicity 

5.1 Publicity letters were sent (9 July 2014) to the owners/occupiers of 122 
adjoining dwellings, a site notice displayed on site and a press notice. A total of 
25 comments were received raising the following concerns.

5.2 23 of the comments received were objections to the scheme raising the 
following concerns:-

 Proposed development is out of keeping with the character of the street.
 The Design & Access Statement incorrectly refers to surrounding buildings 

being 4 storey in height.
 It would adversely impact on the street in terms of traffic generation.
 The building is a central feature within the Conservation area and should be 

kept and is identified as providing positive views from Windmill Hill.
 The building is of some historical importance and questions if the 

development is in keeping.
 Objects to 19 flats and would rather see 8 larger flats to minimise the impact 

Page 16



on the highway network.
 Would rather see alternatives to demolition such as conversion.
 The block of flats would increase noise on the street.
 Overdevelopment of the site and three or four high quality houses would sit 

better on the site.
 The replacement building would not preserve or enhance the conservation 

area
 No 3d massing study or artists impression of the replacement building have 

been submitted.
 The neglect of the building in recent years is not a valid reason to allow the 

demolition of the building.
 The proposed scheme is an unconvincing pastiche building.
 The site building could be converted to a community used such as an 

independent cinema or low key leisure use. 
 No serious attempts to mark the building for alternative uses.
 The development would cause clear and demonstrable harm which 

outweighs the benefits of providing new homes.
 Would prefer to see a number of houses on site which would be more in 

keeping with the street scene.

General Comments
 Bats have been seen in the building
 Would wish to ensure that it’s a car free development and new occupiers 

could not have CPZ permit.
 Would wish to see all construction vehicles parked in public car parks and 

not in the surrounding streets

5.3 2 comments have been received in support stating:

 No objection to proposed development but has concern that the impact 
the demolition will have on the existing surrounding properties and there 
should be no on street parking.

Revised Publicity 

5.4 Due to the long period the application has been in revised consultation to all 
neighbours was undertaken on 20 March 2017 and 30 representations were 
received.

5.5 The following material planning considerations were raised:

 Bats may be living in the property
 Flats on the site will not be in keeping with the surrounding properties
 It will block out light to properties at the back.
 Concerns raised regarding the consultation period in relation to the 

Regulatory Board meeting date.
 Raises concern on viability report and review of this report undertaken by 

the Local Planning Authority appointed surveyors. 
 Contrary to local and national planning policy
 Concern over the length of the consultation process
 The existing building should be retained and would act as a catalyst for 

wider regeneration
 Proposal is out of keeping with the character of the area

Page 17



 Will have adverse impact on the parking within the area.
 Impact on the listed war memorial to the south should be considered
 Flats would be large and imposing.
 Lack of contact between the applicant and surrounding properties.
 Insufficient marketing has been undertaken on the vacant building
 False balconies do not relate to the street scene.
 Overlooking onto surrounding properties
 No serious attempt at converting the building has been demonstrated by the 

applicant
 £900,000 asking price for the building is unrealistic 
 Adverse impact on local services such as waste collection. 
 Clause 3.3 of the New Gurdwara Section 106 to be revoked
 The marketing exercise carried out by the applicant is wholly inadequate. 
 A condition should be in place to ensure future residents cannot have on 

street parking permits.
 The SAVE injunction has not been mentioned.

5.6 The following additional issues are raised which are not material planning 
considerations

 Impact of the development on the structural integrity of surrounding 
properties

 A neighbour indicates they will be commissioning their own conservation 
report

 Requires access to the building to allow a firm of architects to draw up plans 
to develop the building.

5.7 A third round of consultation was undertaken following the receipt of additional 
information from the agent (Marketing summary, revised planning statement, 
daylight/sunlight test, and additional planning statement) was undertaken on 18 
December 2018 which expired on 21 January 2019  and as of 14 January 2019 
approximately 26 comments have been received . It should be noted that a 
large amount of additional comments are being received on a daily basis and 
representations received up until this time will be covered within the 
supplementary report if they raise any fresh material planning considerations.

 The following comments have been received:
 Objection to the principle of the development and not in the spirit of the 

conservation area
 The Party which offered £50,000 were disappointed that they were not 

notified by either Caxton’s that the Gurdwara did not want to pursue further 
negotiations and they are still interested in purchasing the site.

 The proposed flats will not enhance the area and the development is not 
appropriate for a conservation area.

 Unsuitable in both style and scale of buildings
 The current building is historic and a major historic focal point in the 

Conservation area
 The current owners have not proved that a commercially viable alternative 

in keeping with the area is not viable and there is no evidence that the 
original structure is not sound.

 Alternative schemes retaining the building should be looked at
 Townhouses would be better than flats
 The applicant fails to provide acceptable amenity space and insufficient 

Page 18



parking provision
 Concern over the length the application has been in for and there has been 

significant local and national planning policy changes.
 Overdevelopment of the site
 Increase parking issues in the surrounding area
 Current building should be kept and refurbished
 The building has had offers to purchase which  shows it is not redundant 
 The loss of the building will weaken/undermine the wider conservation area
 The bike storage is not sufficient to serve the development.
 Flats would be inappropriate within this location
 The owner received two offers through Caxton’s which shows the building is 

not redundant 

A letter of support has been received on the following grounds:
 The building is an eyesore and no longer enhances the area
 The building has had a number of unsympathetic alterations and no longer 

sits comfortably in Clarence place. 
 The War memorial across the road is far more important as a piece of local 

history.
 The development will provide much needed housing for local residents 

5.8 In addition a neighbour letter of 7 January 2019 asked a number of questions 
but as per the procedure within the Development Management team officers do 
not engage in correspondence with 3rd party representations received.  

6. Planning Analysis and Planning Manager Comments 

Principle of Development

6.1 The site is within the urban boundary of Gravesend which is covered by Policy 
CS02 of Gravesham Core Strategy (LPCS) which supports the principle of 
residential development within the urban area of Gravesend and rural 
settlements inset from the Green Belt.

6.2 The proposed development will achieve a density of 190 dwelling per hectare 
(DPH) which meets the target of Policy CS15 (LPCS) which expects 
development to achieve a minimum density of 40 dwellings per hectare within 
the urban area.

6.3 Policy CS14 (LPCS) at 5.10.9 states that the Council will expect new housing to 
provide a range of dwelling types and sizes which take into account the existing  
character of the area and Policy CS15 (LPCS) at paragraph 5.11.7 states that 
the development should have regard to the character and location of the area.

6.4 At a national level, section 11 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning 
decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for 
homes and promote and support the development of under-utilised land and 
buildings. With a density of 190 dwellings per hectare this exceeds the target of 
a minimum density of development to achieve a minimum density as set out in 
Policy CS15 (LPCS).

6.5 The surrounding area is principally residential use with the exception of 
community hall and Gravesend Spiritualist Church (19 Clarence Place).

Page 19



6.6 With regard to the residential use of the site this is deemed to be acceptable. 
Turning to other uses of the building the LPCS sets out an approach of town 
centre uses first, then edge and finally out of town uses. As the application site 
is not town centre or edge of town centre, this would trigger the need for a 
sequential test.

6.7. In conclusion, it is considered that the principle of residential use on this site is 
acceptable, but the redevelopment of the site for residential purposes through 
the demolition of the existing building needs further careful consideration which 
is explored in the following section of the report. The application as a whole 
needs to be considered and the key issues to be considered within this 
application are as follows:

 Heritage;
 Design of development;
 Highways Impact;
 Amenity impact on surrounding properties; and
 Living conditions for future occupiers.

Heritage  

6.8 The former Gurdwara was constructed as a large civic building (originally a 
church) and although now vacant and run down has a strong civic presence in 
one of Gravesend’s finest streets.

6.9 The Gurdwara is identified as a positive building within the Windmill Hill 
Conservation area appraisal and lists the building in section 5.3 as principal 
landmark in Windmill Hill and states in 9.9 of the appraisal that the renovation 
and reuse of the Siri Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara on Clarence Place, when it 
is vacated in due course, is one of the most pressing issues in the Conservation 
Area. (The building has been vacant now for around 9 years).

6.10 The application involves the demolition of the existing vacant building and 
replacement with a 4 storey building with underground parking. Design of this 
development has taken inspiration from the surrounding 19th century villas and 
has been designed to appear as two villas which central recessed entrance. 
The front elevation fenestration details take inspiration from the surrounding 
properties. The rear elevation fronting William Street is a simpler design using 
simply sash windows. Parking is underground accessed from William Street. It 
is worth noting that the Conservation Area Appraisal highlights that a negative 
feature of the Conservation Area is the “Partial loss of important brick boundary 
wall on William Street, to create off road parking areas for houses on north side 
of Clarence Place”. By removing the utilitarian building on William Street and re-
instating a partial brick boundary, the proposal is helping to address this 
negative feature.

6.11 The application site is within the Windmill Hill Conservation Area and the 
proposal needs to be considered against Section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 16 of the NPPF and the 
relevant planning policies at a local level. For clarity, the Conservation Area and 
the war memorial are regarded as the designated heritage assets for the 
purposes of policy. The former Gurdwara itself is a non-designated heritage 
asset.

6.12 The 2009 Conservation Appraisal identifies the existing building as a principal 
landmark building with the conservation area. In addition both the Conservation 

Page 20



area appraisal and the management plan have an expectation that the building 
would be retained and new uses would be found for the existing building. At a 
national level, the 2018 NPPF states at paragraph 194 that “Any harm to, or 
loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or 
destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and 
convincing justification”. Paragraph 197 goes on to state “the effect of an 
application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be 
taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that 
directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced 
judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and 
the significance of the heritage asset”.]

6.13 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) pay special attention in the 
exercise of planning functions to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of a Conservation Area.  A High Court judgement, 
known widely as the Barnwell Manor judgement, confirms in effect that 
Parliament intended that the desirability of preserving the special architectural 
or historic interest of the listed building, or its setting and for that matter the 
character or appearance of a conservation should not simply be given careful 
consideration by the decision-maker for the purpose of deciding whether there 
would be some harm, but that "considerable importance and weight" should be 
given to the desirability of preservation when the decision-maker carries out the 
balancing exercise.

6.14 Saved Policy TC3 of Gravesham Local Plan (GLP) states ‘Where development 
is acceptable in relation to other policies in this Plan, it will be carefully judged 
for its impact and will be expected to make a positive contribution to the 
conservation area and ‘the demolition of unlisted buildings will be resisted 
unless the Borough Council is satisfied that the existing building is harmful to 
the conservation area and that the proposals for redevelopment or other use of 
the site will be beneficial’. Policy CS20 (LPCS) states:

1. the Council will accord a high priority towards the preservation, protection 
and enhancement of its heritage and historic environment as a non-
renewable resource, central to the regeneration of the area and the 
reinforcement of sense of place and goes on to conclude ‘When considering 
the impact of a proposed development on a designated heritage asset, the 
weight that will be given to the asset’s conservation value will be 
commensurate with the importance and significance of the asset. For non-
designated assets, decisions will have regard to the scale of any harm or 
loss and the significance of the heritage asset.

2. Proposals and initiatives will be supported which preserve and, where 
appropriate, enhance the significance of the Borough’s heritage assets, their 
setting where it contributes to the significance of the asset and their 
interpretation and enjoyment, especially where these contribute to the 
distinct identity of the Borough. These include:

• Gravesend Town Centre, its development as a heritage riverside town, 
and its setting;
• The Borough’s urban and rural conservation areas; and
• Surviving built features and archaeology relating to the Borough’s 
maritime, military, industrial and transport history.

Page 21



3. When considering the impact of a proposed development on a designated 
heritage asset, the weight that will be given to the asset’s conservation 
value will be commensurate with the importance and significance of the 
asset. For non-designated assets, decisions will have regard to the scale of 
any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.

6.15 Conservation areas are designated heritage assets within the NPPF and 
paragraph 193 states

“When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of 
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial 
harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance”. 

6.16 A development that merely maintains the status quo, perhaps by replacing a 
building that detracts from the character and appearance of the conservation 
area with a similarly detrimental building, would satisfy the statutory 
consideration. The conservation area appraisal/management plan identifies the 
existing building as a positive building with the Conservation Area.

6.17 However, in a number of ways the policies in the NPPF seek positive 
improvement in conservation areas. Most explicitly paragraph 185 requires 
that local planning authorities should take into account "the desirability of new 
development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness".  

6.18 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states “Permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for 
improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions”.

6.19 Of particular importance for developments in sensitive environment’s is the 
advice in paragraph 130 that “Local planning authorities should also seek to 
ensure that the quality of approved development is not materially diminished 
between permission and completion, as a result of changes being made to the 
permitted scheme (for example through changes to approved details such as 
the materials used)”.

6.20 The NPPF seeks economic, social and environmental (including historic 
environmental) gains jointly and simultaneously. The planning system should 
actively guide development to sustainable solutions. Pursuing sustainable 
development involves seeking positive improvement in the quality of the built 
environment.

6.21 The NPPF differentiates between the degrees of harm that may be caused to 
heritage assets and requires convincing justification for any works causing 
harm. It makes a distinction between ‘substantial harm’ and ‘less than 
substantial harm’ to the significance of the heritage asset. Paragraph 196 
states:

“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use.”

Page 22



6.22 Paragraph 20 of the National Planning Policy Guidance (March 2018) 
recognises that public benefits may stem from many developments. These can 
include economic, social, environmental or heritage benefits, but should not be 
a private benefit.

The applicant’s case for redevelopment

6.23 The applicant has provided the following points during the course of the 
application in support of the proposal for the demolition of the vacant building 
and replacement with residential scheme.

 The applicant states that a full measured survey was undertaken and the 
subdivision of the building into self-contained flats was considered. However 
due the sheer size of the building it would be unlikely that a feasible scheme 
could be implemented.

 Conversion of the existing building into residential use would not provide 
any car parking. (On street parking has been one of the main concerns 
raised from objection letters received during the consultation process).

 The large central core creates problems with conversion as any conversion 
would need to be both horizontal and vertical. From the architects 
assessment the issue would be providing any natural light and ventilation to 
the central core area- particularly the ground floor.

 Concern that due to numerous windows on the flank elevations of the 
building (east & west) any conversion would make use of these numerous 
windows and result in overlooking into the private amenity space/windows of 
the surrounding residential properties. 

 With the various modern extensions there is little opportunity to provide any 
private amenity space. (Which is a requirement of the Council’s Residential 
Layout Guidelines).

 The applicant looked at alternative uses such as office, retail and storage 
and in their opinion all would require an element of on-site parking which the 
retention of this building would not provide. This may lead to an increase of 
on-street parking (A major concern of objectors).

 Internal layout of the building is celluarised particularly at the rear and 
manoeuvrability between section is the building is restricted. The applicant 
acknowledges that the internal layout could be modified but challenges of 
the different levels of the various elements of the building would be 
challenging.

 The Former Gurdwara possible uses are restricted as no D1/D2 uses can 
occur on site without the approval in writing and the applicant has concern 
that any D1/D2 uses would not be accepted by either the LPA or the local 
residents . 

 Two rounds of marketing have been undertaken (both for 6 month periods) 
and as a result of this no offers were accepted by the applicant. One was 
90% under the asking price and the second the applicant was not convinced 

Page 23



the purchaser would have the relevant experience/financing to fund a 
project for converting the existing building into residential use.

 The bulk, massing and scale of the replacement building is acceptable and 
is an acceptable design for the sensitive nature of the site (A conservation 
area).

 The proposed parking will be underground and accessed from William 
Street further reducing any impact to the conservation area.

 The applicant acknowledges that the demolition of the former church will 
have an effect on the character and appearance of the conservation area. 
The applicant’s heritage statement concludes the alterations that have been 
made to the building, and to the fact that much of its significance has 
already drained away. To that extent, the amount of harm that will be 
caused by demolishing the building in its residual form is lessened.

 The view of the church from Windmill Hill will be changed by the 
replacement of an early English style gabled facade with a new building 
similar in form and style to neighbouring 19th century villas in Clarence 
Place. The architectural diversity within the view will be replaced by 
architectural consistency. A visually distinctive landmark will be removed, to 
be replaced by a new building that conforms with neighbouring buildings in 
the view.

 The character of the Early English facade in Clarence Place will be removed 
by the development, and the Tudor collegiate character in William Street  
will also be removed. These characteristics will be replaced by a new 
building of late Georgian and early Victorian character more like adjacent 
paired villas at 18 and 19 Clarence Place on either side of the church.

 The applicant acknowledges demolition of the church will reduce the 
architectural variety on Clarence Pale but the replacement scheme will help 
reinforce the late Georgian and early Victorian Characteristics of the area.

 The viability of the building is hampered by the fact that the site affords no 
parking or other amenities. It is now in many respects an unattractive 
building, in a state of decline, and it is becoming progressively less viable 
rather than more viable. Any new viable use would have to preserve the 
building at the very least, and it is questionable whether the Early English 
south front, rendered and altered as it is by the modern loading bays on 
either side, can be considered viable.

 All the evidence is that each successive reuse of the building in the last 140 
years has led to further erosion of character and appearance. It is a building 
that is in a declining cycle of use, and it is not likely that the cycle will 
suddenly go into reverse by inserting another low-investment use into the 
building.

 Internal examination of the building reveals a number of defects, including 
dampness and poor insulation. The church is an inefficient building with 
large spaces that is in worsening condition. It does not have the special 

Page 24



architectural qualities that would justify remedying that condition and at 
the same time preserving such an altered and defaced exterior.

Objections to the application

6.24 As outlined previously in this report, 3 rounds of consultation have been 
undertaken which have generated a large amount of neighbour comments (This 
report covers comments received up until 14 January 2018 and the 
supplementary report will deal with any additional comments received) who 
object to the demolition of the existing building and furthermore the proposed 
replacement building is poor design, out of keeping with the character of the 
area, and unacceptable bulk and massing. Many of the objectors consider that 
the existing building should be retained and converted into residential, 
community or business use as this would retain the building and preserve and 
enhance the conservation area. The demolition of the building is explored in the 
following sections.

Demolition of the existing building

6.25 The 2009 conservation area appraisal identifies the existing former Gurdwara 
on Clarence place as a significant landmark within the Conservation Area and 
forms one of the principal positive views from Windmill Hill when looking 
northwards. The appraisal goes onto states ‘that with new Sikh temple being 
constructed on Khalsa Way, and the building on Clarence Place will be vacated; 
one of the challenges facing this area will be to find an appropriate new use for 
the building.’

6.26 As set out in the conservation area  appraisal the applicant has been requested 
to find an appropriate use for the existing building and has undertaken two 
rounds of marketing over a total period of 12 months to ensure that before 
demolition is considered all reasonable steps have been taken to look at 
alternative uses of the building.

6.27 In addition due the concern of the loss of the building by members of the public 
and consultees such as SAVE it was felt that clear and robust marketing would 
be required.

6.28 The existing building is large 19th century civic style building which is imposing 
within the street scene and notwithstanding its poor condition objectors are of 
the opinion the building should be retained and the marketing which has been 
undertaken in their opinion demonstrated the building is not redundant and 
should be preserved.

6.29 The existing lawful use in planning terms of the building strictly speaking is 
still D1 (Non-residential institutions). However, the S.106 agreement signed 
under reference 20000264 requires that when the new Gurdwara opens the 
existing Gurdwara use shall cease on site. Furthermore if any future D1 use is 
proposed the section 106 requires that this cannot commence without the 
prior written consent of the Council. This does not mean a D1 use cannot 
occur but would give the LPA the ability to consider whether the impacts of an  
active D1 use on site would be acceptable at that point in time. Without the 
S.106 restriction in place the building could have been occupied with no 
planning restrictions which would could have resulted in a parking/noise 
situation as detrimental as or even worse than the previous use as a 

Page 25



Gurdwara.  Therefore the section 106 agreement serves to control what was 
a previously unlimited D1 use.

6.30 Since the Gurdwara vacated the building in November 2010 it has laid vacant. 
The reason for restricting the D1 use in the 20000264 approval was to ensure 
that the following issues no longer occurred at Clarence Place.

 The Gurdwara was having an adverse impact on the amenity of 
surrounding properties through the parking cars and coaches especially 
for wedding which was occurring almost every weekend; and

 there were also complaints received to a lesser level regarding noise 
(Mainly around weddings).

6.31 This concern is not just theoretical but has voiced by residents on numerous 
planning applications, for example in in 20070771 residents stated the 
following:

6.32 In the 2011 an application for the same site (Ref: 20110256) a neighbour 
made the following comment in relation to parking and the Gurdwara:

The need for parking along Clarence Place has been reduced with the 
diminishing use of the Temple three doors along from this property

6.33 The above comments are given as examples of some of the neighbour views. 
They are provided to demonstrate that neighbours acknowledge that when the 
Gurdwara use ceased, there was a notable reduction in parking demand on 
Clarence Place which was considered to be a positive benefit for those 
residents.

6.34 What the above has demonstrated is that the D1 use ceasing on site has 
greatly reduced the parking issues on Clarence Place and via the section 106 
agreement the LPA would have to ensure that the impacts of any future 
resumption of a D1 use on site can be carefully considered and controlled by 
the Council. 

6.35 In addition other D1 uses which could in theory be used on the site (Subject 
to LPA approval) which include clinics, health centres, crèches, day nurseries, 
day centres, schools, art galleries (other than for sale or hire), museums, 
libraries, halls, church halls, law court and non-residential education and 
training centres. However, with this site being located outside the town centre 
and with there being no scope for on-site parking any potential D1 use is 
likely to generate an on street parking demand and would likely not comply 
with the Council’s adopted parking standards. Because of this religious 
groups have been promoting town centre locations. (A concern has been 
raised from objectors that the proposed redevelopment of the site even with 
19 spaces would still have an adverse impact on the on the highway network; 

Page 26



therefore its likely that any proposed D1 use would raise parking concerns 
which would not appease neighbouring properties concerns regarding parking 
on Clarence Place).

6.36 It is concluded that D1 restriction which essentially requires any use of the 
building to be considered by the LPA serves a clear planning purpose of 
protecting the amenity of residents of Clarence Place/ William Street by 
ensuring no unacceptable D1 use occurs at the application site.  

6.37 In order to ascertain if the demolition of the existing building (Which is a positive 
contribution to the character and appearance and thus also to the significance 
of the Windmill Hill conservation area) the decision maker (The LPA in this 
instance) needs to judge if there is clear and convincing justification for this 
harm in the manner set out in Paragraph 194 of the NPPF.

6.38 During the course of the application two rounds of marketing have been 
undertaken by the applicant; April 2018 to November 2018 and previously June 
2015 to January 2016.

6.39 The first round of marketing the applicant undertook they commissioned 
Balgores Property Group, a local estate agent to market the property from 
January 2016 until July 2016. Balgores have confirmed in writing that there was 
a lack of interest in the building. The building was marketed for offers in excess 
of £900,000. This marketing value was deemed to be significantly higher that 
the land value stated by both the applicant’s appointed surveyor and 
gravesham appointed surveyor. Notwithstanding this there was nothing to stop 
potential purchasers offering prices below the guide price. 

6.40 The feedback Balgores Property Group received from the market was that the 
building is in a dilapidated condition and required too much investment for any 
potential purchaser to make a financially viable use of the building. 

6.41 During the period the property was on the market no interest in considering 
alternative uses for the building were received by the LPA. In addition the 
physical constraints of the site (No off street parking and surrounding residential 
properties) it is hard to envisage a commercial use on this site would comply 
with local and national planning policy.

6.42 It was concluded this marketing was which was undertaken was unacceptable 
as the asking price was significantly different from the offers in excess of 
£900,000. The applicants own appointed surveyor (When dealing with viability 
for affordable housing) came to an existing land value of £500,000 for the 
following reasons:

Establishing the VBS is not a straightforward matter as these assets rarely 
transact in the open market. However, we are aware of a number of former D1 
non-residential institutional buildings having recently sold at auction each with 
the possibility of redevelopment or conversion and  this incorporating any hope 
value: 

A former Methodist church in Rainham, Kent was sold at auction in May 2016 
for £460,000. The site extended to approximate 0.25 acres and was not listed 
and not within a conservation area. Given the site characteristics, the probability 
of redevelopment or conversion was considered to be high. 

Page 27



A former primary school in Tunstall, Sittingbourne sold at auction in May 2016 
for £450,000. The site extended to 0.52 acres and considered to be a possible 
redevelopment or conversion opportunity. 

A former Methodist church in Tunbridge Wells sold at auction in June 2016 for 
£900,000. The property comprises a recently vacated church in good condition 
on a plot in the centre of the town extending to 0.26 acres. Whilst the property is 
similar in building size and plot size, it is in a far more desirable location and in 
a good condition throughout. 

The Property is potentially more limited than the above evidence as it is 
contained within a conservation area and has a restrictive covenant against use 
as a place of worship. In addition the Property is in a far more dilapidated 
condition than the above properties. Given the above limited evidence we are of 
the opinion that the VBS for the Property is £500,000.

6.43 Gravesham appointed surveyors who reviewed the applicant’s viability 
assessment came to a residential land value of £362,954. Even if you took a 
medium figure of £431,000 this clearly shows the asking price by Balgores 
Property Group of £900,000 did not reflect the correct market value of the site.

6.44 On reflection it was concluded that the marketing which was undertaken was 
not sufficiently robust to demonstrate that all alternative uses of the building 
have been explored.

6.45 The applicant was requested to undertake revised marketing an appropriate 
RICS agent who has experience in dealing with commercial properties.

6.46 The applicant appointed Caxtons Chartered Surveyors who undertook 
marketing for a 6 month period commencing on 11 April 2018 and the agent 
confirmed the following marketing was undertaken:

 V Board Displayed on site;
 Added to Caxton’s web site and database and the particulars sent to 279 

persons on their registered dated base;
 Direct mailing to 746 commercial agents, and professional persons;
 Advertised on Property link web site;
 Advertised on rightmove web site;
 Available on CoStar a specialist subscriber service;
 Advertised on NovaLoca a UK commercial property web site;
 A display advert was placed in 23 April 2018 print edition of Estates 

Gazette;
 A display advert was placed in 19 April 2018 of Gravesend & Dartford 

Messenger; and
 A display advert was placed in 79 April 2018 of Messenger Extra.

6.47 The Marketing which was undertaken by Caxton’s used the following text within 
the above adverts:

The marketing was undertaken with the description as ‘Potential for conversion 
to other uses – Subject to planning permission. Existing restriction against use 
within Class D1 as a place of worship 

6.48 The advert also included clear guidance that any future uses of the building 
(Including D1) would require a formal application to the Council.

Page 28



6.49 In addition the following comments were included within the advert advising that 
all potential purchasers should make contact with LPA to and engage in pre-
application discussions to discuss potential future uses of the building.  

6.50 During the course of the second round of marketing two religious groups 
enquired about using the property as a Christian Church and a third group 
enquired about using it as community centre. In order to assist with these 
enquires the following information was sent to all interested parties.

My understanding was this this clause was included on the S.106 to deal with 
the parking issues on Clarence Place as that was an on-going issue with 
events causing parking issues on Clarence Place. To deal with this issue the 
S.106 ensured that when the new Gurdwara opened the former one (At 
Clarence Place) could not be used for a Gurdwara or any other D1 use 
without the prior written consent of the Council.

Therefore if you wish to use the property as a place of worship/community 
centre you would need to formally apply to the Council for a change of use.

Any change of use application would raise a number of issues but the 
following would be a key consideration for any future application.

1.    There is no on-site parking and parking is limited on Clarence Place and 
surrounding roads (It is acknowledged there is the public car park north of the 
site) and any D1 use may generate high amount of traffic which may raise 
concern with county/borough highways engineers, surrounding residents, 
case officer and Members.

2.    The property is located in a relatively quiet residential area and any noise 
generated from the use would need to be fully addressed

3.    The hours of use would need to be carefully considered.

4.    The building is within a Conservation Area and any changes to the 
building would need to ensure that they preserve or enhance Conservation 
Area. I have received some enquires from other potential purchasers 
regarding removal of the existing front boundary wall to provide limited off 
road parking for the site. This would be an absolute non-starter as this would 

Page 29



be detrimental to the character of the existing building and wider conservation 
area. 

5.Any external changes would need to be sympathetic to the existing building 
and the wider conservation area.

6.51 The response from these three groups was that one group responded and 
confirmed that after considering all of the above they did not wish to pursue 
the purchase the property and the second and third group did not respond to 
the e-mail.

6.52 The revised marketing which was undertaken generated 50 specific enquires 
with a number of queries being received by the Planning Department. Initial 
enquires related to using the building for religious uses, commercial and 
residential uses. However, none of these initial enquires turned into formal pre-
application enquires.  During the marketing process viewings were undertaken 
on 15 May 2018 and 19 July 2018 with 35 persons attending representing 14 
pre-registered parities. A further viewing date was offered on 29 August 2018 
but no one attended.

6.53 Two provisional offers were received and the agent confirmed that having 
spoken to a number of parties and the agent’s wider experience in dealing with 
these types of properties the following reasons were:

Residential conversion 

 No on-site parking and the building virtually fills up the entire plot;
 with the high amount of windows on the flank elevations any residential 

conversion is likely to lead to unacceptable levels of overlooking to adjacent 
residential properties; and

 concern if sufficient daylight/sunlight could be provided to all flats if 
residential conversion was undertaken.

D1/D2 uses

 With regard to D1/D2 uses the main concern appears to the building lacking 
parking and the general arrangement poor; and

 concern that large gathering would result in noise/amenity impact on 
adjacent properties and any D1/D2 use is unlikely to be supported

6.54 With regard to offers, the House of Ministries e-mailed the LPA requesting 
information on the site and concluded on 12th September 2018 the following 
reason they would not be purchasing the property.

After much deliberation with the Trustees and management of the church we 
will not take this further. There is a lot of work and effort to put in the 
application and the end result might not be pleasing. In as much as we would 
love to purchase the property, the time to put everything in place with the 
council and the residents might be months or even years which we do not 
have luxury of.

6.55 A number of other enquires to the LPA were received but none of these 
progressed and some included the question of demolishing front boundary 
wall to provide parking spaces which was unacceptable from a 
design/heritage aspect.

Page 30



6.56 In addition two provisional officers were received which are summarised below

6.57 It should be noted that following the publication of the marketing summary 
report Party 1 has stated the following:

 We are the party who presented £ 50,000.00 as a starting offer hoping 
this would lead to further negotiations

 We were not asked for any financial information to back up our offer
 We presented architecture drawings of our planned refurbishment 
 We were notified that from Caxtons that the Guardwara did not want to 

pursue further negotiations 
 They are still interested to purchase the property.

6.58 The above comments are noted and when Party 1 contacted the LPA for 
discussions on their use for the building they were informed about submitting 
a formal paid pre-application and they declined to enter into this.

6.59 In addition the offer they made was 90% under the asking price and the 
owners of the site decided not to purchase discussions with party 1.

6.60 Party 2 offer was £480,000 for freehold and for the reasons outlined below it 
was not accepted.

Page 31



6.61 It should be noted that the Party B made initial contact with the LPA on 24 July 
2018 and despite a chase up on 21 August 2018 Party B provided no further 
information or entered into formal pre-application discussions. 

6.62 With the sensitive nature of this application Historic England were asked to 
provide comments on the marketing which was undertaken and a fully copy of 
their response can be found in appendix 1 attached to this report.

6.63 Historic England raised concern regarding the marketing by stating the 
following:

Savills refer to a benchmark land value of £500,000. BPS in their report (8 
August 2016) arrive at £422,996 as the residual land value and on this basis the 
asking price of offers in excess of £500,000 does seem on the high side. When 
marketing a property to demonstrate redundancy it is good practice to see a 
figure that fairly reflects the market value of the property so as to avoid 
deterring potential enquiries (GPA2 (c)). The wording “offers in the region of say 
£350,000” would have generated more interest although having said that, the 
number of viewings for a property of this nature was not unreasonable.

6.64 It is worth noting that whilst Historic England suggest that offers in the region of 
£350,000 would have generated more interested the number of viewings for the 
marketing was not unreasonable. Therefore whilst the asking price was on the 
high side the LPA is satisfied it was not flawed as per the previous asking prices 
of £900,000.

Page 32



 

6.65 Historic England has reviewed the terms and proposals and their view is that 
this could have deterred potentially interested parties. Historic England made 
the following comments on Party 2 other interests” Party 2 did make an offer 
close to the asking price but the vendor’s condition that they retain a freehold 
interest until the completion of a refurbishment meant that this party was unable 
to secure finance and highlights how the terms may have been restrictive. In 
addition a requirement by prospective purchasers to have a “track record”

6.66 Historic England summarise that they have not objected to the proposal but 
state the following:

We have not had an opportunity to view the building again before giving this 
advice on the marketing exercise for it. However, that notwithstanding, we have 
reservations and concerns about both the asking price and more particularly the 
terms which we believe are erring towards being onerous and restrictive. We 
think this could have deterred the market and therefore the chances of finding a 
new purpose for the existing building. If you think that a less restrictive 
marketing might have resulted in additional and viable solutions and hence 
other expressions of interest to those made then redundancy of the building 
might not have been fully demonstrated. 

It is for your Council to decide whether the marketing exercise was sufficiently 
robust to provide the clear and convincing justification required here in the 
manner set out in Paragraph 194 of the NPPF and where harm arises from the 
loss of a building which makes a positive contribution to the character and 
appearance of the Windmill Hill Conservation Area. We would be pleased to 
provide further advice if that would be helpful, but please note it is likely this 
would need to include for a site visit which could delay a decision about this 
matter.

6.67 Historic England latest comments are noted and whilst they have reservations 
and concerns about both the asking price and more particularly the terms which 
they believe are erring towards being onerous and restrictive they do not object 
to the proposal. 

6.68 Historic England state it is ultimately down to the decision maker (The Council) 
to decide if the marketing exercise was sufficiently robust to comply with 
paragraph 194 of the NPPF.

Conclusions regarding compliance with paragraph 194 of the NPPF

6.69 Paragraph 194 states that 

Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from 
its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should 
require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be 

exceptional;
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, 

protected wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed 
buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World 
Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional

Page 33



6.70 The consideration as to whether there is clear and convincing justification for 
the demolition of the former Gurdwara, includes an assessment as to whether 
there is a viable use for the existing building.  This in turns requires an 
assessment of the adequacy of any marketing exercise to assess whether a 
use could still be found which would enable the building to be retained.

6.71 Having reviewed the two rounds of marketing which were undertaken it is clear 
that the first round of marketing was not satisfactory as the asking price was 
£900,000 which was almost 50% in excess of the land value price. Therefore 
the marketing at this price would have failed to reach all potential buyers who 
may be willing to find a use for the site that still provides for its conservation to 
some degree. It thus failed to meet the requirements of the Conservation Area 
Appraisal and paragraph 194 of the NPPF.  

6.72 The second round of marketing which was undertaken by Caxton’s was more 
comprehensive and the asking price for £500,000 which is high (historic 
England suggested a price of £350,000 and Gravesham appointed surveyors 
gave a price of £362,954) this appears to have not lead to lack of interested 
from potential purchasers and the planning department received some initially 
enquires from various parties.

6.73 In summary taking into account all the information which has been submitted 
and notwithstanding the comments from Historic England and the objections 
raised from neighbours it is concluded that:
 The first round of marketing which was undertaken was not sufficient to 

demonstrate that all viable uses for retaining the building had been fully 
explored.

 The second round of marketing whilst still having a high asking price did 
reach a wide range of interested parties. 

 The marketing was clear regarding the restriction of D1 use and it was 
reasonable to refer to this restriction given the purpose it serves.

 The marketing exercise was inaccurate in suggesting that planning 
permission needed to be sought for a resumed D1 use: what is required 
was the consent from the LPA under the section 106 agreement. However 
this inaccuracy does not render the marketing exercise inadequate: the 
promotional material made clear to any potential purchaser that before any 
resumed D1 use the LPA would have the ability to assess for itself the 
impacts of that resumed D1 use. Three enquires in the event were received 
and they were advised clearly of the process and the issues which would be 
considered for using the building as D1 use. As a result of this none of the 
parties were interested in taking their proposals further.

 The LPA still received enquiries from religious/community groups who were 
informed of the process of applying for a D1 use. However, none of these 
parties appear to have any further interest in purchasing/using the site

 Two provisional offers were received by the applicant but neither of these 
progressed to formal offers (as highlighted in previously in this report) which 
further demonstrates that the use of building for either residential conversion 
or mixed used building is unlikely. 

6.74 Taking into account all of the above it is considered that the marketing which 
has been undertaken has demonstrated sufficiently that no viable uses have 
been demonstrated for the building in the medium term in order to enable its 
conservation. On balance it is considered that in relation to the marketing which 

Page 34



has been undertaken the proposal was adequate and (subject to other 
considerations below) and therefore can be considered as part of the clear and 
convincing case justification for the development that is required by paragraph 
194 of the NPPF and this is considered further in section 8. 

Replacement building
6.75 Turning to the replacement building Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan 

Core Strategy (LPCS) states that the design, layout and form of new 
development will be derived from a robust analysis of local context and 
character and will make a positive contribution to the street scene, the quality of 
the public realm and the character of the area.  The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) sets out that the creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but 
over the lifetime of the development.

6.76 It also states that permission should be refused for development for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for 
improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions, taking 
into account any local design standards or style guides in plans or 
supplementary planning documents.

6.77 As the site is within the Windmill Hill Conservation Area Saved Policy TC3 of 
Gravesham Local Plan (1994) and CS20 of Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (2014) and Section 16 of the NPPF are relevant when considering 
design.

6.78 The existing building is the vacant Gura Nanak Darbar Gurdwara which was 
previously known as Milton Mount Church. The building has had a number of 
small extensions and the front elevation has been poorly rendered.  A front 
boundary wall with railings is still in place.

6.79 The buildings scale in terms of height, massing and bulk is extremely prominent 
and is an imposing structure within the street scene (Both from Clarence Place 
and William Street) and does not reflect the influence of the early Victorian villa 
style semi-detached residences. However this building has been constructed as 
civic building and civic buildings are often more imposing than the surrounding 
properties. 

6.80 With regard to the redevelopment of the site, the proposal is to demolish the 
existing structure on the site and replace it with a 4 storey building with 
underground parking accessed from William Street.

6.81 The development’s principle elevation is that fronting onto Clarence Place and 
the building has taken reference from the surrounding high quality Victorian 
villas such as the adjacent properties of 18, 19, 32, 33, 34 and 35 Clarence 
Place. 

6.82 The principle elevation has a recessed lobby entrance of 4.43m to ensure that 
the building appears to be two villas. To ensure that there is a clear and distinct 
entrance to the flats, the combination of the recessed entrance along with 
Baluster at 1st and 4th level helps to clearly define the character of the building.

6.83 Overall the principle elevation of the building has a vertical emphasis through 
the window design. At ground floor, there are simple sliding sash windows, and 

Page 35



at 1st floor (which will be the most visible from street level) French doors with 
Juliet balconies are proposed (this is a reflection of 35 Clarence Place).

 

6.84 The proposed railing details shown on Drawing No.3208-PD-003 Rev A are 
simple railings lacking any character as per the above photograph. This can be 
appropriately addressed through an appropriate planning condition requesting 
revised details of the Juliet balconies. 

6.85 At second floor the window designs are simple sash windows with label mould 
above the windows again a reflection of 35 Clarence Place which is directly 
across the road.

6.86 At third floor the windows are plain sash windows with a large window sill. Again 
this is feature of 35 Clarence place as is shown on the below photograph.

Page 36



6.87 The overall height of the building from slab to ridge height is 12.49m with the 
existing building (Dotted red on Drawing No.3208-PD-003 Rev A) being 13.66 
to the top of the roof and 16.86m to the top of the gable. Therefore this 
development is reduced in height to reflect that this is no longer a civic building 
but a residential development. In order to ensure that the building sits well 
within the plot as shown on Drawing No.3208-PD-001 A the proposed  building 
has a smaller footprint than the existing building (Set back further from Clarence 
Place and William Street ). Even though the footprint is closer to 19 Clarence 
Place and the same distance to 18 Clarence place the reduced depth of the 
building and overall height reduction creates and acceptable bulk/massing. The 
Conservation architect supports the overall bulk/massing design of the building 
which is smaller than the existing building on site and it will sit well within the 
street scene.

6.88 To the west the eaves of the 18 Clarence Place are 9.61m with the proposed 
development having eaves of 10.35m. Even with the eaves heights being less 
than a metre in difference the proposed development will appear larger and 
more imposing than 18 Clarence places but not to a degree to be an un-
neighbourly form of development.

6.89 To the east is 19 Clarence Place which is a two storey property used as a 
Gravesend Spiritual Church with a caretakers flat incorporated within the 
building. Under this proposal the development eastern elevation is 1m closer at 
ground floor and at 2nd and 3rd floor where the building current steps in the new 
development will be 1.98m closer to 19 Clarence Place. Notwithstanding this, a 
gap 3.57m is maintained between both properties and this open space is 
sufficient to ensure this new development will not be imposing/dominating to 
this existing property.

6.90 Turning to the flank elevations of the proposed redevelopment of the site, the 
elevation are reduced in size from the existing building on the site which is 
shown on Drawing No.3208-PD-001  Rev A. On the west flank wall, the building 
has a building depth of 30.43m and under this development the flank wall is 
reduced to 14.92 which is just under a 50% reduction of built from directly on 
the flank of No.18 Clarence Place.  A distance 4.34m remains between the 
flank wall of this development and No.18 Clarence Place. Whilst a large flank 
wall with no windows or openings, it will have limited views as it will be 
screened by 18 Clarence Place when looking east and the building when 
looking west. If Members are concerned with this large blank façade then 
dummy windows or other architectural features could be included through a 
condition.

Page 37



6.91 The eastern boundary is a mirror of the western elevation (same dimensions 
and no windows or openings).  However with 19 Clarence Place being a smaller 
scale than 18 Clarence Place the flank wall will be more visible when looking 
westerly on Clarence Place. In order to break up this elevation, a condition for 
blind windows or other architectural features will be required.

6.92 On the rear elevation a 3 storey outrigger is proposed which is set in 10m from 
each flank wall and has a depth of 10.25m and width of 6.96m. The flank walls 
of this outrigger are broken up by one obscure window at each level serving the 
bathrooms of each flat and a window providing light into the rear stairwell. It is 
considered that this outrigger is subservient to the existing building and is 
acceptable in design terms.

6.93 The rear elevation of this building front William Street is set some 15m back 
from the rear elevation and a much more uniform approach than proposed for 
the front elevation. It is considered that this approach is acceptable as William 
Street is a unique street which up to the 1960’s was a road which provided 
access to two roads running north south serving terraced dwellings which were 
demolished and now form part of Gravesham/ Homemead Court  and a number 
of Council single storey and two storey dwellings. William Street is now a cul-
du-sac which is characterised on the south elevation as containing high 
boundary walls, garages and outbuildings and the north side of William Street is 
a mixture of bungalows, boundary walls and some 19th century dwellings which 
appear to have escaped the 1960’s redevelopment.

6.94 The existing building is an extremely intrusive feature within William Street 
context and the replacement with 2.78m boundary wall and 5.62m vehicular 
entrance to the site has less impact the street scene than the intrusive two 
storey building built flush to the highway. In order to add interest to this new wall 
the brick material will be conditioned along with requiring details to be added to 
the brickwork/pillar wall on William Street to create parking area for houses on 
the north side of Clarence Place along with some graffiti. Below is an image 
(May 2018) showing the rear elevation of the Gurdwara fronting William Street. 

6.95 As set out in paragraph 129 of the NPPF local authorities should have regard to 
the outcome from design panels/reviews. In this case the application did not go 

Page 38



before a full design review but in front of the Design South East (DSE) monthly 
design surgery on 26 April 2017 in order to help gives officers a balanced view 
on the design of the building. The comments received from DSE question if the 
building can be converted instead of being demolished (As outlined in 
‘demolition of the existing building’ section n this report) these options have 
been explored and the conclusion of officers is that redevelopment of the site is 
acceptable). DSE have taken the view that the proposed development would be 
higher/wider than surrounding properties and is not an honest reflection of the 
surrounding street scene. DSE comments that the building is high/wider than 
the existing structure on site and noted but as outlined in the this section of the 
report (Replacement Building) it is considered by officers and the Conservation 
Architect the proposed replacement building sits more appropriately within the 
site than the existing building and would have an overall reduction in 
bulk/massing than the existing building which has been poorly extended. DSE 
also raise concern that the single entrance to the flats are not in keeping with 
character of the street and further concern is raised about the single aspect flats 
and the amenity space to the north of the flats. Officers consider that these two 
points are subjective and the single entrance is acceptable and there are no 
policies at a local or national level which prohibit single aspect flats.

6.96 Officers fully respect Design South East comments but, in this instance, whilst 
their comments are noted as set above previously within this report the 
conversion of the building  been explored along with marketing of the building 
for two six month periods. It considered that on balance that the design which 
has been submitted is acceptable and complies with local and national planning 
policy. Gravesham Conservation Architect along with the case officer are 
satisfied that the design complies with local and national planning policy.

6.97 The retention of the front building only is noted as concern from the 
conservation architect but this would still result in the substantial demolition of 
the building and it would not be clear what this would achieve as the front 
elevation which having some historic merit was deemed not worth of listing buy 
Historic England. In addition keeping the front elevation only would severely 
constrain a viable redevelopment of the site.

6.98 In summary it is noted that both neighbouring properties and DSE have raised 
concern with the design of the building but it is felt that on balance the 
improvements of removing a building which has been vacant for over 10 years 
has been poorly extended and frontage poorly rendered the replacement 
scheme is acceptable in design terms. The replacement scheme is broadly 
acceptable in terms of scale, massing and its townscape effect. Subject to 
further details of materials to be agreed, it is accepted that the proposed 
appearance be acceptable to the Windmill Hill Conservation Area, the Grade II 
Listed War memorial and the wider character of the area. Therefore this 
proposal complies with Saved Policy TC3 of Gravesham Local plan First 
Review, CS19 (LPCS) and Section 12 and 16 of the NPPF.

6.99 Having concluded that the replacement scheme complies with local and 
national planning policy in regard to the demolition of the existing building it is 
concluded that on balance that taking on board the marketing which has been 
undertaken and the replacement scheme which is deemed to enhance and 
preserve the Windmill Hill Conservation Area (The Conservation Architect 
supports the replacement scheme) and  furthermore it is  worth noting that the 
Dorothy Bohm v SSCLG [2017] EWHC 3217 (Admin) judgement which dealt 
with the demolition of a non-designated heritage asset (NDHA) within a 

Page 39



conservation area challenged an inspectors decision to grant planning 
permission for the demolition and rebuilding of a dwelling house in the 
Hampstead Conservation Area in London. What this judgement concluded was 
that just because something is a ‘Positive Contributor’ a LPA should not 
automatically concluded that it cannot be a demolished/redeveloped until it has 
assessed it in comparison with the potential enhancements of a proposed 
development. Importantly, this implies that the demolition of an NDHA in a 
Conservation Area cannot be treated as harm to a designated heritage asset in 
isolation, but that the scheme as a whole needs to be considered, with the 
demolition being just one factor in this.

6.100 The constraints of the site with the current building in-situ, namely no parking, 
building filling virtually the entire plot, poor internal layout, sheer size of the 
building and renovation works required, potential overlooking from flank 
windows on the flank walls of the building, all deter from future uses of the 
building.

6.101 In this instance it is concluded that that taking into account the building has 
been vacant for in excess of 9 years, 2 rounds of marketing have been 
undertaken two provisional offers were accepted but neither progressed into 
formal offers. The marketing which was undertaken has raised concern from 
Historic England but overall it is considered that the second round of marketing 
reached sufficient interested parties and the marketing has demonstrated that 
no viable use have been demonstrated that will enable the building medium 
term conservation. 

6.102 No parties during the course of the application have demonstrated conservation 
by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public ownership of 
the building. As the building has been vacant for around 10 years considerable 
cost would be required to renovate the building. 

6.103 It should be noted that in October 2009, English Heritage (now Historic 
England) rejected an application by SAVE to have the building listed as Grade 
II. English Heritage explained that their reason for this decision was that ‘The 
building does not demonstrate either an uncommon building material or 
constructional innovation.” There have been no fresh applications by SAVE or 
any other 3rd parties to Historic England to get the building listed.

6.104 Finally it is considered that the loss of the building is acceptable (Even though it 
will regrettably result in a landmark building which still retains some 
architectural merit) as the benefit of bringing the site back into use (In the form 
of residential use) will help to provide 19 much needed dwellings, and result in a 
high quality development which will sit well within the Conservation Area and 
help reinforce the character of the area.

6.105 As such it is considered the loss of the existing building would represent less 
than substantial harm to the Conservation Area. 

6.106 On balance it is considered that the proposal to demolish the existing building 
on site will lead to less than substantial harm and complies with paragraph 194 
and 197 of the NPPF.

 Living environment for future occupiers

6.107 Policy CS19 (LPCS)  requires that all development should be ‘fit for 
purpose’ and be ‘adaptable to allow changes to meet the need of users’ 
and that ‘the design and layout of new residential development, including 

Page 40



conversion, will accord with the adopted Residential Layout Guidelines’   
On 25 March 2015 the Government issued a written ministerial statement 
which introduced new technical housing standards in England and set out 
how these would be applied through planning policy which came into effect 
on 1 October 2015.  From this date, existing Local Plan policies need to be 
interpreted with reference to the nearest equivalent national technical 
standard.

6.108 In December 2015 the agent submitted revised plans which showed 
provides the following room sizes which shows that all the units of 
accommodation meet the technical housing standards

6.109 Private amenity space for future occupiers is provided in form of a roof terrace 
to the rear of the property which amounts to 65m². The final details of how this 
area will be used would be the subject to a pre-occupation planning condition. 

6.110 In addition to the proposed private amenity space the site is directly opposite 
Windmill Hill Gardens which provides future occupiers with immediate and 
trouble-free access to open space. A concern has been raised by objectors that 
the proposed development would provide insufficient private amenity space for 
future occupiers. However due to the location directly opposite windmill gardens 
future occupiers 

6.111 DSE raised concern that all of the flats are single aspect flats with a number of 
flats having being on the north elevation. Notwithstanding these comments 
there are no polices at a local or national level which prohibit single aspect 
north facing flats. It is considered that the way in which the layout has been 
designed it would not be feasible to redesign the internal layout which 
comprising the amount of units and avoiding introducing windows on the flank 
elevations of the building or comprising the density of the development.  

6.112 In summary it is considered that dwellings will provide acceptable living 
conditions for future occupiers and thus comply with the Council’s Residential 
Layout Guidelines (and National Space Standards) and the proposal complies 
with CS19 (LPCS).

The effect on neighbouring properties living conditions

6.113 With the redevelopment of both sites careful consideration has to be given to 
the impact on the living conditions of existing properties. Policy CS19 of 
Gravesham Core Strategy requires new development to safeguard the amenity, 
including privacy, daylight and sunlight of occupiers of surrounding properties.

Page 41



6.114 With the removal of the existing building with a replacement of smaller building 
will result in an improved outlook from the surrounding properties.  On the flank 
elevations of the main blocks no windows or openings are proposed.  The 
outrigger to the rear has one bathroom window, one secondary living/kitchen 
windows and windows serving the stairwell.  These windows are 9 metres from 
the boundaries of the site and will be condition to be obscure glazed to order to 
ensure there is no adverse impact on the living conditions of adjacent 
properties. 

6.115 The proposed private amenity space to the rear will not result in disturbance or 
overlooking into the rear garden of 19 Clarence Place which is currently 
occupied by Gravesend Spiritualist Church and not being used as a 
residential dwelling. However, the boundary/landscaping condition will 
ensure that sufficient screening is in place so there can be no perception of 
overlooking into the rear garden of the adjacent property.

6.116 Concern has been raised by an occupier of William Street that the development 
would result in the loss of light but as demonstrated on page 21 of the 
supporting Design & Access Statement the bulk and massing of the building is 
reduced and no built form above ground level is proposed facing directly onto 
William Street. Currently there is a two storey building with steep pitched roof 
fronting directly onto William Street. The reduction of built form directly onto 
William Street will improve the outlook of the properties on the north side of 
William Street directly opposite the site the application site.

6.117 The application acknowledges that there may be an impact on 
daylight/sunlight to surrounding existing residential properties and has 
submitted a daylight sunlight technical assessment with the application.  It 
should be noted that the report submitted is based on professional judgement 
and needs to be interpreted with a degree of flexibility.  BRE Guidelines 
provide three methodologies for daylight assessment, namely:

 The Vertical Sky Component (VSC);
 The No Sky Line (NSL); and
 The Average Daylight Factor (APSH)

6.118  The report reviewed the following surrounding residential properties which  
have habitable room which have been identified as potential sensitive 
receptors and have been tested.
 18 Clarence Place
 19 Clarence Place
 2 William Street
 4 William Street
 5 William Street
 6 William Street
 7 William Street
 20-21 Peter Street
 22-23 Peter Street

6.119 The report concludes that the impact on all of the above properties will be 
negligible when undertaking the VSC Analysis.

6.120 The second test which has been undertaken is the NSL test which again was 
tested against all the properties listed in 6.125.

Page 42



6.121 The results concluded that the impact on all the surrounding properties will be 
negligible expect for one window on the flank wall of 19 Clarence Place. It 
should be noted that this window in question will receive a reasonable level of 
daylight with the proposed development in place according to the VSF test and 
will not experience a notable reduction in daylight.

6.122 Finally the test for ADF was undertaken and the relevant receptor for this 
development was 19 Clarence Place attic room and this room as existing rooms 
get a fairly low level of ADF (0.52) which is reduced to 0.48 post development. 
The report concludes that this room will be more sensitive to any massing 
changes than surrounding properties. The report concludes that the average 
daylight in this room will not be reduced by more than 8% which is well within 
the acceptable limit of 20% prescribed by the BRE Guidelines. 

6.123 The report concludes the following:

6.124 Having fully considered the impact on surrounding properties it is concluded 
that the proposed massing of the development will not have an adverse impact 
on the surrounding properties to warrant a refusal or request a reduction in the

Development. In summary the proposal complies with Policy CS19 of 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and will not have an adverse 
impact on the amenity of surrounding properties.

Effects on highway safety

6.125 The proposed development will provide 1 parking space per unit with 
underground parking accessed from William Street.  The parking provision 
provided complies with saved Policy P3 of Gravesham Local Plan First Review.

6.126 Concern was initially raised by Kent Highways Services on visibility splays from 
the rear car park onto William Street.  This has been reviewed by Gravesham’s 

Page 43



Senior Development Engineer who states the layout of the development, 
access, sightlines and parking is all acceptable. 

6.127 Subject to the car parking being unallocated there are no objections from 
Gravesham Highway Engineer. 

6.128   In addition a condition would require details of secure bike storage (to 
encourage sustainable development) along with future proofing the car park 
spaces with ducting for electric charging points.

6.129 It should be noted that concern has been raised that future occupiers may 
choose to park on Clarence Place and not the proposed underground parking. 
However, this would not be a material planning consideration as the scheme 
has provided sufficient parking for future occupiers. 

6.130 In summary the proposed development will provide acceptable parking 
provision for future occupiers and there will no adverse impact on the 
surrounding highway network. The proposal therefore complies with local and 
national planning policy in relation to highway issues. 

Refuse Arrangements 

6.131 The basement will include a room for the storage of wheelie bins for waste 
generated from the flats which will have secure access from within the car park. 
There will also be direct access from William Street to the refuse store for waste 
collection which will provide acceptable access for refuse collectors. In order 
to ensure this room is secured a condition for security arrangements will be 
required in order that this room does not become a source of anti-social 
behaviour.

Ecology and Biodiversity

6.132 Concern has been raised by a number of objectors that the building may be 
home to bats and as such this concern has been shared with the applicant.
In England bats and their roosts are protected by the law.  In summary, it is 
illegal to kill, injure, or disturb bats, or to damage, disturb or obstruct access to 
bat roosts because of the following legislation:
 Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981;
 Countryside & Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000; and
 The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.)  Regulations 1994 (otherwise 

known as the Habitats Regulations).

6.133 The applicant has submitted a Bat Survey Report (dated September 2015) in 
order to determine if bats ate present on site.  The report summary states the 
following.

Two bat species; noctule and common pipistrelle, were recorded commuting 
over the site during the first nocturnal emergence survey.  None of these bats 
were observed emerging from the temple building.

Following the suite of survey work undertaken on site no bat roosts were 
identified so far. However as the surveys were undertaken outside the bat 
maternity season, there is insufficient evidence to conclude whether the 
building is being utilised by roosting bats at this time and further two activity 
surveys should be undertaken within bat maternity season.

Page 44



The site is located 5.9 km of Hangman's Wood & Deneholes SSSI, designated 
for its importance to hibernating bats.  However due to a small scale of 
proposed development, the build-up nature of the surrounding area and the 
intervening distance between this SSSI, no adverse impacts on of Hangman's 
Wood & Deneholes SSSI are anticipated.

6.134 Due to additional comments received from neighbouring properties over the 
possible presence of bats a revised bat survey was commissioned in October 
2017 and stated the following:

Following the suite of survey work undertaken on site it can be concluded that 
the temple building does not contain any bat roosts. 

A daytime common pipistrelle roost was recorded within a neighbouring building 
to the north of the site. Due to location of the roost it is not anticipated that the 
proposed development will have any negative effects on this roost. 

The site is located 5.9 km of Hangman's Wood & Deneholes SSSI, designated 
for its importance to hibernating bats. However due to the small scale of 
proposed dsevelopment, the built-up nature of the surrounding area and the 
intervening distance between this SSSI, no adverse impacts on of Hangman's 
Wood & Deneholes SSSI are anticipated.

6.135 The report provides 3 recommendations if bats are found during the 
construction process, lighting (temporary or permanent) should be considered 
to minimise any light spillage which may impact on bats. Finally the 
development should include appropriate habitat enhancement for bats (This will 
be dealt with as planning condition.

6.136 The application site is located in the Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar 
Buffer Zone.  The Ramsar site is of international biodiversity importance, 
particularly for birds.  Recent evidence suggests that there has been a decline 
in bird populations in the internationally significant Special Protection Areas 
(SPA) and Ramsar sites that make up the North Kent Marshes.  There is 
currently insufficient evidence to adequately assess the cause of this decline 
although interim findings indicate that recreational activity causes disturbance 
to birds and that more development will lead to an increase in disturbance.  In 
the meantime, a precautionary approach to development will be applied.  It 
will be imperative that developers address and mitigate any detrimental 
impacts on biodiversity.  

6.137 In this instance, the proposed development would result in the creation of 19 
additional residential properties and as such, additional recreational activity 
would result.  Therefore it is considered that there would be an adverse 
impact to the Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar Buffer Zone, which 
should be mitigated in line with Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy 
CS12.   In such cases the Borough Council has adopted a tariff that is 
payable for each new dwelling unit within 6km of the SPA/Ramsar site.  

6.138 The proposed payment of £4552.59 would be secured as part of the S.106 
agreement (£239.61 per new dwelling unit).  A link to the Council’s website 
where there is justification for the tariff is shown below.

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/nature-
conservation-and-landscape/thames-estuary-and-marshes

Page 45

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/nature-conservation-and-landscape/thames-estuary-and-marshes
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/nature-conservation-and-landscape/thames-estuary-and-marshes


Affordable Housing, Planning Obligations and Development Viability

6.139 The Borough Council’s position on affordable housing, as set out in Policy 
CS16, is that it will be required at a provision of 30% on sites in the urban area 
proposing 15 or more dwellings.  The Council seeks a broad mix of 70% 
rented and 30% shared ownership, although the tenure mix should meet local 
needs and achieve a socially inclusive development.

6.140 The Local Planning Authority would not seek on site affordable housing due to 
the constraints of trying to find an affordable housing provider wishing to take 
on affordable units within the same block as open market apartments. In place 
of onsite affordable housing the applicant would be required to pay an off-site 
commuted sum.

6.141 The applicant is seeking to provide no affordable housing with this scheme as 
they have stated it would make the scheme unviable. To support this view the 
applicant has submitted a viability appraisal (7th July 2016 which has been 
independently reviewed by the Council’s appointed surveyors. 

6.142 The Council’s appointed surveyor generally agree with the viability appraisal 
benchmark land value used and the Council’s surveyors factoring in a sum for 
ground rental value within the estimated gross development value of the 
scheme.

6.143 In this instance, both parties agree that the surplus of money left over for 
affordable housing would be relatively small (around £53k -97k). The  
Councils appointed surveyors agreed with the applicants surveyors that build 
fees can fall within a percentage range relating to construction costs.  The 
applicant’s appraisal included a 6% - 12% professional fee allowance. As the 
surplus identified within Councils appointed surveyors report was relatively 
small, the adjustment of professional fees does have a substantial impact.

6.144 At 6% professional fees the surplus is 97k, dropping down to 41k at 9%, 23k 
at 10% and -14k at 12% and the figures in relation to professional fees and 
surplus are agreed by both the Councils appointed surveyors and the 
applicants appointed surveyors.

6.145 Having regard to the benefit in taking an equitable approach to securing 
financial contributions balanced with site-specific construction costs and the 
need to deliver new development to meet local needs, it is considered that the 
provision of no affordable housing on site is satisfactory.

6.146 Kent County Council (KCC) has requested a financial contribution of £912.30 
towards library book stock. Initially KCC requested 40k for contributions but 
KCC having reviewed their position have revised their request to library books 
only for the following reason:

Having had regard to the 5 Obligation restriction towards a ‘project’ or ‘type of 
infrastructure’, KCC have re-evaluated the previous request which would 
have been based upon pooling a large number of developments to deliver an 
infrastructure project which as you appreciate from the Regulations post April 
2015 can only be achieved through CIL. Without CIL in place, we are unable 
to continue with some earlier requests currently.

Page 46



We are continuing, with Service providers, to re-evaluate and identify projects 
that can be delivered with 5 planning obligations.

The Government introduced CIL to replace pooling of contributions  - as 
confirmed by the attached recent correspondence with Steve Quartermain’s 
Office – Chief Planning Officer. There will be circumstances where 5 
obligations will not generate sufficient monies to provide services required for 
the likes of Education, the elderly, those with physical and learning disabilities 
and people living with dementia.

Following meetings with KCC service providers, the KCC requirements for 
this development are now:

 
Library bookstock– there is an assessed shortfall in provision for this 
service of 735 bookstock per 1000 population in Gravesend which is below 
the County average of 1134, and both the England and total UK figures of 
1399 and 1492 respectively. The capital cost of providing the additional stock 
required to mitigate the impact of the additional borrowers from this 
development is £912.30. Project: additional bookstock to mitigate the impact 
of the new borrowers from this development supplied to the local Library 
service, including the Gravesend Library.

6.147 In order for the Local Planning Authority to request financial contributions on 
behalf of the Kent County Council any contributions will need to meet all of 
the tests relating to paragraph 204 of the NPPF which are as follows:

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

6.148 It is considered that KCC planning obligation meet the statutory tests of 
paragraph 56 of the NPPF that requires planning obligations to be necessary 
to make the development acceptable, directly related to the development and 
fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

6.149 KCC financial contributions will be collected via a section 106 agreement. 

Proposed heads of terms 

Obligation Sum Trigger

Financial contribution 
for SPA/Ramsar site 
tariff 

 £4248.03 Prior to commencement.

Financial contribution 
for Library books

£912.30 Prior to commencement.

Sustainable Urban Drainage

Page 47



6.150 Policy CS18 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) sets out the 
requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage and surface water run-off.  
The application as submitted makes no reference to either of these 
requirements and the agent will be required to provide a Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Strategy (SUDS) for the site which should include the following 
design principles.

 Pervious pavements/road surface to allow water to drain through the 
surface;

 Filter Drains; and
 Rainwater catchment

6.151 In order to deal with the above a condition will be required to deal with 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Strategy (SUDS) for the site.

7. Any other material planning considerations

Impact on the setting of the War Memorial
7.1 The former Gurdwara falls within the setting of the Grade II Listed Gravesend 

War Memorial which is located inside the entrance of Windmill Hill Park and is 
therefore a designated heritage asset. Historic England advised that any 
potential impact on the listed war memorial should be taken into account

7.2 The applicants supporting heritage statement concluded that the church and 
war memorial are both located in Clarence Place and have been focal points 
for the local community observance and quiet reflection the two structures 
have no historical connection. The church was built in the 19th century and the 
war memorial in 1922.

7.3 With the proposal as a whole being deemed acceptable it is considered that 
due to the distance between the war memorial and the application site and 
there l being no historical link between both sites there will be no harm to the 
setting of the heritage asset of the listed War Memorial. No conflict with 
paragraph 193 of the NPPF.

SAVE Injunction 
7.4 Following the Members resolution to approve the previous scheme 20090487 

– (Demolition of existing building and erection of two, four storey linked 
buildings with undercroft parking and vehicular access on to William Street, to 
provide a total of 19 self contained flats, comprising 16 two bedroom and 
three, one bedroom flats and erection of two, two storey three bedroom 
dwellings at the rear fronting William Street) & 20090488 (Application for 
Conservation Area Consent for the demolition of the building). SAVE 
submitted an injunction which came into force on 14th August 2009 until 4th 
September 2009 which prohibited the owners or any third parties from 
demolishing the building. As the applicant never entered into a S.106, no 
decision was issued. With no further action taking place, eventually the 
application was “finally disposed of” under article 40 of the General 
Development Procedure Order 2015 with the Council removing the 
application from its Planning Register. 

Housing Need
7.5 Policy CS02 sets out the Borough’s objectively assessed need for housing 

over the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that there is a need for 
over 6,000 new dwellings in that time. Whilst the Council is currently able to 

Page 48



demonstrate a five year housing supply, the proposed development for a net 
increase of 19 no. dwellings would offer a worthwhile contribution towards 
meeting this local need and, accordingly, weighs in support of the application.

Financial Benefits
7.6 It is noted that financial benefits will accrue to the area if permission is 

granted.  The Government wishes to ensure that the decision making process 
for planning applications is as transparent as possible, so that local 
communities are more aware of the financial benefits that development can 
bring to their area.  In this instance the proposed new residential units would 
generate the New Homes Bonus and Council Tax receipts.  

New Development Proceeding
7.7 Paragraph 198 states “Local planning authorities should not permit the loss of 

the whole or part of a heritage asset without taking all reasonable steps to 
ensure the new development will proceed after the loss has occurred”. In 
order to ensure that reasonable steps are taken, if permission was granted a 
condition would require the applicant to enter into a condition with the 
contractor for the demolition/rebuild prior to any work commencing on site. 
This would require the applicant to agree to a pre-commencement condition. 

Conclusion and a recommendation will be made in a supplementary report.

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 
SOUTH EAST OFFICE  

 

 

 

EASTGATE COURT  195-205 HIGH STREET  GUILDFORD  SURREY GU1 3EH 

Telephone 01483 252020 
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to both the Freedom of Information Act (2000) and Environmental Information Regulations (2004). Any 
Information held by the organisation can be requested for release under this legislation. 

 

 
 

 
Mr Richard Hart Direct Dial: 01483 252078   
Gravesham Borough Council     
Civic Centre Our ref: P00434583   
Windmill Street     
Gravesend     
DA12 1AU 14 November 2018   
 
 
Dear Mr Hart 
 
T&CP (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
& Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 
 
GURU NANAK DARBAR GURDWARA CLARENCE PLACE GRAVESEND KENT 
DA12 1LD 
Application No. 20140550 
 
Thank you for your email of 29 October 2018 regarding the above application for 
planning permission. On the basis of the information available to date, we offer the 
following advice to assist your authority in determining the application.  
 
Historic England Advice 

I am writing about the marketing exercise recently undertaken for the Gura Nanak 
Darbar Gurdwara about which you have requested our views.  We recognise this is a 
challenging case and hope the following is helpful in reaching a view on the live 
application for the demolition of this building. 

Historic England has previously given detailed advice on this application for the 
demolition of the unlisted Gura Nanak Darbar Gurdwara building in our letters to your 
Council of 14 October 2014 and 11 April 2017.  We assess that the building makes a 
positive contribution to the character and appearance and thus also to the significance 
of the Windmill Hill conservation area and that its loss would cause harm to that 
significance.  We therefore advised that your Council would need to judge if there was 
clear and convincing justification for this harm in the manner set out in Paragraph 194 
of the NPPF.  A marketing exercise to understand whether any other party would be 
willing and able to carry out a viable conversion without the need to demolish the 
building was requested to assist your Council in reaching a view on whether a clear 
and convincing justification for the loss of the building had been made.  

Historic England’s guidance Managing Significance in Decision Taking in the Historic 
Environment, Good Practice Advice Note 2 includes for instances where marketing 

Page 51



 
SOUTH EAST OFFICE  

 

 

 

EASTGATE COURT  195-205 HIGH STREET  GUILDFORD  SURREY GU1 3EH 

Telephone 01483 252020 
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to both the Freedom of Information Act (2000) and Environmental Information Regulations (2004). Any 
Information held by the organisation can be requested for release under this legislation. 

 

 
 

has been requested to demonstrate redundancy (Paras 49-50).  While this is 
principally a guide for cases of substantial harm (where marketing is required as one 
of the four tests in this policy), we think the advice here about marketing is relevant to 
your case and we suggest you consider this.  

We have reviewed the information submitted to support the recent marketing exercise 
and on the basis of this we have concerns principally about the asking price and terms 
of a proposed sale.  Our detailed points on the marketing are set out below. 

Asking Price 

Savills refer to a benchmark land value of £500,000.   BPS in their report (8 August 
2016) arrive at £422,996 as the residual land value and on this basis the asking price 
of offers in excess of £500,000 does seem on the high side.  When marketing a 
property to demonstrate redundancy it is good practice to see a figure that fairly 
reflects the market value of the property so as to avoid deterring potential enquiries 
(GPA2 (c)).  The wording “offers in the region of say £350,000” would have 
generated more interest although having said that, the number of viewings for a 
property of this nature was not unreasonable.   

Terms and Proposals 

In our view the terms and proposals as set out could have deterred a number of 
potentially interested parties.  We note that the offer of a “building agreement” will 
normally cause difficulty in securing external finance for a development scheme.  We 
also note that in respect of “other interests” Party 2 did make an offer close to the 
asking price but the vendor’s condition that they retain a freehold interest until the 
completion of a refurbishment meant that this party was unable to secure finance. We 
understand how this came about however, it highlights the way in which the terms 
might be restrictive. 

A requirement for prospective purchasers to include a “track record” of previous 
schemes will also deter some interested parties.  It is often better to say that a team 
appointed by a purchaser must have the requisite experience in handling schemes for 
historic buildings.  A requirement for a potential purchaser to submit a written 
indication of the “merits” of a proposed use, i.e. a fully worked up scheme and 
feedback from the Local Authority, might also deter potential purchasers. 

Conclusions 

Page 52



 
SOUTH EAST OFFICE  

 

 

 

EASTGATE COURT  195-205 HIGH STREET  GUILDFORD  SURREY GU1 3EH 

Telephone 01483 252020 
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to both the Freedom of Information Act (2000) and Environmental Information Regulations (2004). Any 
Information held by the organisation can be requested for release under this legislation. 

 

 
 

The objective of the marketing exercise is to establish whether any other party would 
be willing to carry out a viable scheme without the need for demolition 

We have not had an opportunity to view the building again before giving this advice on 
the marketing exercise for it.  However, that notwithstanding, we have reservations 
and concerns about both the asking price and more particularly the terms which we 
believe are erring towards being onerous and restrictive.  We think this could have 
deterred the market and therefore the chances of finding a new purpose for the 
existing building. If you think that a less restrictive marketing might have resulted in 
additional and viable solutions and hence other expressions of interest to those made 
then redundancy of the building might not have been fully demonstrated.  

It is for your Council to decide whether the marketing exercise was sufficiently robust 
to provide the clear and convincing justification required here in the manner set out in 
Paragraph 194 of the NPPF and where harm arises from the loss of a building which 
makes a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the Windmill Hill 
Conservation Area. We would be pleased to provide further advice if that would be 
helpful, but please note it is likely this would need to include for a site visit which could 
delay a decision about this matter.   

Please contact me if I can be of any further assistance. 

 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Alice Brockway 
Inspector of Historic Buildings and Areas 
E-mail: alice.brockway@HistoricEngland.org.uk 
 
cc: Allan Cox 
 
 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 
SOUTH EAST OFFICE  

 

 

 

EASTGATE COURT  195-205 HIGH STREET  GUILDFORD  SURREY GU1 3EH 

Telephone 01483 252020 
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to the Freedom of Information Act. 2000 (FOIA) and Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIR). All 
information held by the organisation will be accessible in response to an information request, unless one of the exemptions in the FOIA 

or EIR applies. 
 

 
 

 
Mr Richard Hart Direct Dial: 01483 252035   
Gravesham Borough Council     
Civic Centre Our ref: P00434583   
Windmill Street     
Gravesend     
DA12 1AU 11 April 2017   
 
 
Dear Mr Hart 
 
T&CP (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
& Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 
 
GURU NANAK DARBAR GURDWARA CLARENCE PLACE GRAVESEND KENT 
DA12 1LD 
Application No. 20140550 
 
Thank you for your letter of 21 March 2017 regarding further information on the above 
application for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we offer the 
following advice to assist your authority in determining the application. 
 
Historic England Advice 
This application proposes demolition of the former Congregational Church in the 
Windmill Hill Conservation Area, Gravesend, and its replacement with 19 flats. We 
commented on this application in a letter of 14 October 2014 (when we were English 
Heritage). The application has since been amended in details that do not change the 
application fundamentally, so we therefore recommend that you continue to treat our 
previous letter as our current advice on this application. 
 
However, I have read the Summary Report on this application for your Council’s 
Regulatory Board meeting of 12 April and would like to take this opportunity to clarify 
some points that appear to us to have the potential to be misinterpreted. This is 
particularly important given that your Council’s acceptance of demolition of this 
building in 2009 was subject to a successful legal challenge which argued that the 
decision was contrary to local and national policy. 
 
Whilst it is correct to say that Historic England has not objected to the current 
application and that the existing building is not listed (Summary of Reasons for 
Recommendation), these are not in our view the key heritage considerations in this 
case and could be interpreted as downplaying the heritage value of the existing 
building and the rigorous steps required by your Council to determine this application 
within policy.  
 

Page 55



 
SOUTH EAST OFFICE  

 

 

 

EASTGATE COURT  195-205 HIGH STREET  GUILDFORD  SURREY GU1 3EH 

Telephone 01483 252020 
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to the Freedom of Information Act. 2000 (FOIA) and Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIR). All 
information held by the organisation will be accessible in response to an information request, unless one of the exemptions in the FOIA 

or EIR applies. 
 

 
 

Our decision not to object in this case should not be treated as tacit support for the 
scheme, but rather that we have deferred to your Council to make its own decision on 
the application in accordance with local and national policies and guidance for the 
historic environment. The building is not listed, but it is nonetheless part of a 
conservation area, itself a designated heritage asset, and, as your Council’s 
Conservation Area Appraisal confirms, it is a part that makes a positive contribution. 
We are concerned that your report appears to dismiss that significance too lightly and 
implies, perhaps unintentionally, that the building is not worthy of being preserved. 
Your reference to NPPF 132 appears to us to go too far in its interpretation that harm 
to such an unlisted building is individually less important than loss of a listed example.  
 
We nonetheless agree with your report that loss of the existing building would result in 
harm to the conservation area, a designated heritage asset. We are also inclined to 
agree with you that the harm is not substantial. However, you will know that substantial 
harm is a very high test and is only likely to occur in exceptional circumstances. The 
vast majority of harm to the historic environment will therefore not reach that 
substantial threshold and should not be treated as inconsequential if it does not. 
 
The NPPF is clear that ‘great weight’ always needs to be given to the conservation of 
designated heritage assets regardless of the level of harm involved, and that ‘clear 
and convincing justification will need to be given for any harm or loss (para 132). The 
Barnwell Manor Court of Appeal judgement provides an important reminder that where 
harm does not reach the very high threshold of ‘substantial harm’ this should not be 
interpreted as a ‘less than substantial objection to the grant of planning permission’.  
 
You refer in paragraph 6.19 to an appeal decision in Mendip District where the 
Inspector in that case determined that the less than substantial harm to the 
significance of the conservation area was outweighed by the public benefits of 
providing new housing. It is right that harm and public benefits need to be weighed in 
such cases in accordance either with para 133 or 134 of the NPPF, but the implication 
of your report is that the Inspectorate has concluded that less than substantial harm 
will always be outweighed by the public benefits of new housing. What you do not say 
is that there is a wide spectrum of harm possible within the ‘less than substantial’ 
bracket and that in this case the harm is towards the high end of that spectrum 
(whereas it may have been less at Mendip) and therefore that the bar for public 
benefits needs accordingly to be set high. There are also many appeal decisions 
which conclude that the provision of housing does not automatically outweigh harm to 
the historic environment. The High Court’s judicial review of Sevenoaks District 
Council’s decision in the case of Forge Field, Penshurst is particularly strong on this 
point (Case Nos. CO/735/2013 & CO/16932/2013). 
 
In addition to giving great weight required by the NPPF to the preservation of 
designated heritage assets, you should also be aware of the statutory duty in S72(1) of 
the Planning (LB & CAs) Act1990 requiring that special attention shall be paid to the 

Page 56



 
SOUTH EAST OFFICE  

 

 

 

EASTGATE COURT  195-205 HIGH STREET  GUILDFORD  SURREY GU1 3EH 

Telephone 01483 252020 
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to the Freedom of Information Act. 2000 (FOIA) and Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIR). All 
information held by the organisation will be accessible in response to an information request, unless one of the exemptions in the FOIA 

or EIR applies. 
 

 
 

desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area. This 
is mentioned in your paper, but it is a point that other LPAs have recently failed to give 
appropriate consideration, and so your Council will need to demonstrate that it has 
understood and appropriately applied the duty if it does not want to risk further 
challenge. 
 
Recommendation 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds and we 
request that the points of clarification made in this letter are conveyed to your 
Regulatory Committee so that the decision it makes on this application is appropriately 
balanced and in accordance with national and local policy and guidance on the historic 
environment. We think any decision would as a result be less vulnerable to judicial 
review. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the 
application. If there are any material changes to the proposals, or you would like 
further advice, please contact us. Please advise us of the decision in due course. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Tom Foxall 
Inspector of Historic Buildings and Areas 
E-mail: tom.foxall@HistoricEngland.org.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 59



Page 60



c

Ground
Recreation

a

7

1

2

4

6

8

Club

Windmill Hill Gardens

23

19
27

89

92

47

26

21

71

76

13

18

85

99

32

1a

36

29

15

83

35

12

95

24

(PH)

El

39.3m

LB

Nanak

FS

Gardens

Cottage

Ho
me

me
ad

Sta

91a
91b

102

Tennis Court

The Fleming

The Windmill

Resource Centre

ROUGE LANE

CLARENCE ROW

CLARENCE PLACE

PARROCK STREET

PCs

Posts

WILLIAM STREET

HO
ME

 M
EA

D 
CL

OS
E

Stone

Stones

1 t
o 9

8

37.2m

46.6m

Pavilion

Bowling Green

War Memorial

STREET

Ashley Down

23

1

32

1

1

Tennis Court

Tennis Court

20140550 - Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara,
Clarence Place, Gravesend

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 20 4010 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:1,250

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20181206

Site Address: Gurdawara Temple Guru Nanak Marg Gravesend Kent

Application 
Description:

Display of a 30 metre high flag pole mast (Nishan Sahib) outside 
the main entrance to the Gurdwara.  

Applicant: Mr Ajaib Singh Chima Siri Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara

Agent: Mr Brian Balbir Singh Sangha

Ward: Central

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: 20 February 2019

Publicity Expiry Date: 23 January 2019

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board – 6 February 2019

Reason for referral: The agent is a Member of Gravesham Regulatory Board.

Recommendation: DELEGATED to the Planning Manager (Development 
Management) Manager for permission

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

It is considered that the size and design of the proposed replacement flagpole and associated 
hydraulic system is acceptable in this location. Given the nature of the proposal, (A flag pole 
replacing the existing pole (with a slight increase in height)), there would be no visual impact or 
other amenity issues which would justify refusal. It is considered that the presence of the flagpole 
and the flying of a flag would not detract from the wider residential surroundings of the application 
site to a point where the proposal should be regarded as being unacceptable.

The location of the flag pole within the forecourt of the Gurdwara would not result in any highways 
or public safety issues.

In summary it is recommended that advertisement consent is granted subject to the conditions set 
out at the end of this report.

1. Proposal 

1.1 The proposal is to replace the existing flag pole which is 22m in height with a 30m 
high flag pole. The reason for replacing the existing flag pole which has been in place 
for 9 years is that the flag pole is manually raised/lowered around 2 to 3 times a year. 
The manual raising/lowering of the flag pole according to the covering letter is a health 
and safety risk to both the persons undertaking the task as well as persons attending 
the ceremony of raising/lowering the flag pole.

Page 63 Agenda Item 5b



1.2 The replacement flag pole will be raised and lower using an hydraulic system which 
will remove the current health and safety issues surrounding the current flag pole. The 
flag which will be attached to the flag pole is 0.6m by 0.6m (The same as on the 
existing flag pole).

1.3 It should be noted that every Gurdwara in the world has a similar mast on site and is 
an integral part of the identity of Sikh Gurdwara and the Sikh religion.

1.4 The application consists of the following documents/plans:

Drawings/ Documents:
Application form;
Covering letter dated 20.11.18
Lighting details
OS Plan 1:2500
Drawing No.KAL-3395-002 – Side and Front View
Drawing No.KAL-3395-001 – Plan View
Drawing No.S-1001187-04 – Flag pole 
Drawing No.KAL-0000-001 – Layout

2. Relevant Planning History

2.1 There have been various applications on the site  but the most relevant ones are as 
follows:

20010979 - Details pursuant to outline planning permission ref. no. GR/2000/264 
relating to the siting, design and external appearance of the proposed new Sikh 
Temple (Gurdwara) not including Community Centre. Permitted 19.04.2002.

20010974 – Application for the variation of condition 2 of outline planning permission 
ref. no.   GR2000/264 relating to the erection of a Sikh Temple and Community 
Centre, to allow commencement of the development before completion of the off-site 
highway improvements in Wellington Street/Saddington Street. Permitted 
26.06.2002.

20000264 – Outline application for the erection of a Sikh Temple (Gurdwara) and a 
community centre with vehicular access onto Saddington Street and laying out of 120 
no. car parking spaces and 3 no. coach parking spaces together with an overspill car 
park comprising of 74 no. spaces and a full application for the removal of the existing 
car park off Khalsa Avenue and its restoration into a sports playing field. Permitted 
01.10.2001.

3. Planning Policies

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
 CS19 - Design & Development Principles

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
 TC8 – Advertisement Control

Other material considerations 

Page 64



National Planning Policy Framework (2018)
 Section 12 – Achieving Well-designed places 

Other Relevant Legislation 
 Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisement) (England) Regulations 2007, 

(as amended).

Supplementary Planning Guidance
 Advertisement Control Policy Guidelines 

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations
Internal

Highway Development Management Officer
I would appreciate a plan of the mast in its lowered position, to ensure there is no 
conflict with vehicular access, parking or pedestrian routes/access. 

External 

Kent Highways & Waste
I refer to the above planning application and having considered the development 
proposals and the effect on the highway network, raise no objection on behalf of the 
local highway authority.

Publicity

4.1 Thirty Three (33) surrounding properties were consulted and the publicity expiry 
date was 23 January 2019 and no comments were received.

5. Service Manager (Development Management) Comments

Site History and Context

5.1 An advertisement is defined by Section 336(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended) (The Act), as a “…means any word, letter, model, sign, placard, 
board, notice, awning, blind, device or representation, whether illuminated or not, in the 
nature of, and employed wholly or partly for the purposes of, advertisement, 
announcement or direction, and (without prejudice to the previous provisions of this 
definition) includes any hoarding or similar structure used or designed, or adapted for 
use and anything else principally used, or designed or adapted principally for use, for 
the display of advertisements, and references to the display of advertisements shall be 
construed accordingly.”

5.2 Section 220 of The Act relates to the formulation of regulations for controlling 
display of advertisements, whilst Section 222 of The Act set out that planning 
permission not needed for advertisements which complying with regulations. The 
regulations formulation for controlling display of advertisements are The Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisement) (England) Regulations 2007 (as 
amended).

5.3 Bearing in mind the above, only advertisement consent is required for the proposed 
advert, which comprises both the flag and the flagpole, being the “device employed 
wholly or partly for the purposes of, advertisement, announcement or direction, and… 

Page 65



includes any… similar structure used or designed, or adapted for use… for the display 
of advertisements…”

5.4 In terms of the merits of the submission, applications for advertisement consent are 
considered in relation to two issues – Amenity and Public Safety.

5.5 The NPPF recognises that poorly placed advertisements can have a negative impact 
on the appearance of the built and natural environment, and reinforces that the only 
considerations related to advertisement submissions are amenity and public safety.

5.6 Saved Policy TC8 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994 policy requires 
applications to be examined in the light of the Borough Council’s adopted policy 
guidelines for advertisement control and states that displays which are detrimental to 
public safety or amenity will be resisted.

5.7 The Borough Council’s adopted Advertisement Control Policy Guidelines (November 
1996) divides the Borough into different areas, and it is reasonable to conclude that the 
application site falls within the category of “Other parts of the urban area of Gravesend 
& Northfleet ”. Policy 4 of this document states:  

“Advertisement displays in other parts of the urban area of Gravesend and Northfleet will 
generally be acceptable on business premises, if they relate to the trade or activity 
carried on in the premises. Other advertisements will be considered on their individual 
merits and may be acceptable if they are viewed against a commercial background 
and, in the case of illuminated advertisements, are adequately screened from 
residential property.”

Public safety

5.7 Due to the location of the flag pole within the grounds of the Gurdwara it will not have 
any adverse impact on highway safety in relation to vehicles and Kent Highways 
Transportation & Waste Officer raises no objection the proposal. However, Gravesham 
Highway Development Management Officer states they would appreciate a plan of the 
mast in its lowered position, to ensure there is no conflict with vehicular access, 
parking or pedestrian routes/access. 

5.8 The flag pole will be lowered to the south which is in the forecourt of the Gurdwara and 
there will be no adverse impact on the safety of pedestrians or vehicles, therefore the 
concern that Gravesham Highway Development Management Officer has raised has 
been addressed. In addition through the introduction of the hydraulic raising/lowering 
system there will be less of a risk to the operators and the public attending the 
raising/lowering of the flag.

5.9 In summary no adverse impact on public safety is considered to occur. Nor is the 
proposed flag advertisement, including the flag pole, considered to conflict with 
planning policy, national policy and guidance or other relevant legislation in this regard.

Effect on Visual Amenity

5.10 The application site is located to the west of the Gurdwara on the forecourt and the 
nearest residential properties are the properties on the south side of Milton Road which 
are between 50m and 70m to the north of the site. Between the flag pole and the 
nearest dwellings is the North Kent mainline which further separates the two sites.

Page 66



5.11 There has been an existing flag pole on site since 2010 and this has raised no 
complaints from surrounding properties in regard to visual amenity.  The additional 
increase in height from 22m to 30m will not result in harm to the amenity of the 
surrounding properties due to the distance maintained between the site of the flag/flag 
pole and those adjoining properties. Furthermore, the increase in height by 8m will still 
be subservient to the existing Gurdwara and will not appear as a cluttered feature or a 
development which would be out of scale with the context of the site.  No additional 
lighting is proposed for the flag pole.

5.12 It is considered that the size and design of the proposed replacement flagpole and 
associated hydraulic system is acceptable in this location. Given the nature of the 
proposal, (A flag pole replacing the existing pole (with a slight increase in height)), 
there would be no visual impact or other amenity issues which would justify refusal. It 
is considered that the presence of the flagpole and the flying of a flag would not detract 
from the wider residential surroundings of the application site to a point where the 
proposal should be regarded as being unacceptable.

6. Conclusion

6.1 Overall it is considered that the proposed replacement flagpole and flag would be in 
line with Policy TC8 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review and the Borough 
Council’s adopted Advertisement Control Policy Guidance.

6.2 It is considered that the proposed signage is neither harmful to amenity nor public 
safety and it is therefore recommended that ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT be 
granted subject to conditions.

_________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT be granted subject to the 
standard advertisement conditions, which are set out below.

1. No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the site 
or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission.

2. No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to:-

(a) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or 
aerodrome (civil or military);
(b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal or 
aid to navigation by water or air; or 
(c) hinder the operation of any device used for the purposes of security or 
surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle.

3. Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of advertisements, 
shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual amenity of the site.

4. Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of displaying 
advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not endanger the 
public.

Page 67



5. Where an advertisement is required under these Regulations to be removed, the 
site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual 
amenity. 

Reason for the imposition of conditions 1-5 (inclusive): In accordance with 
Regulation 14(1)(a) of The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisement) 
(England) Regulations 2007 (as amended).

INFORMATIVES:-

APPROVED PLANS

STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-TAKING

Page 68



72

1

6

5

3

8

9

4

Hall

Club

Centre

Estate

Chapel

to

Gardens

Car Park

Playground

Holy Trinity

Sports Centre

Milton Road

2c

Primary School

TJ's

Chantry Primary School

11

32

14

18

41

54

80

17

31

16

88

48

15

10 12

93

3820

50
89

44

27

99

43

42

64

29

26

63

49

30

34

52

45

95

6568

36

61
55

40

23

56

67

6021

2b

53

74

28

1a

70

22

19
69

37

96

58

85

24

84

35

77

51

97

47

33

Vill
as

House

SL

LB

ROW

FS

DRIVE

20

17

15

63

2

37

52

11

11

42

1

58

11

12 14

17

6
1

Playground

22

15

11

11

1

89

65

14

15

1

6

34

1

58

2

10

21

3

31

14

34

34

5

68

52

17

30

1

6

16

2

2

2

1

3

Hall

6

29

69

5

7

SL

28

8

3

48

1

2

16

14

31

4

32

2

8

Playground

12

35

1

2

48

29

21

27

27

1

11

28

8

27

1

18

11

1

2

2

17

34

5

3

15

14

29

1

49

53

20181206 - Gurdwara Temple, Guru Nank Marg
Gravesend

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 40 8020 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:2,500

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



DRR2 – Delegated Report V2

Delegated Report

Application No: 20181155

Location: Land West of Northfleet Green, Gravesend

Description: Installation of polytunnels

Applicant: Mr T Chambers, WB Chambers Farm Ltd

Agent: Mr Graham Simpkin

Ward: Istead Rise

Parish: N/A

Decision due date: 8 February 2019

Publicity expiry 
date:

25 January 2019

Decision Level: Regulatory Board (Planning)

Reason for 
referral:

At the request of Cllr John Knight due to the potential effect on residential 
properties

Recommendation: Approval, subject to conditions

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

This application seeks planning approval for the installation of 5 blocks of polytunnels on an 
agricultural field located to the north and west of Northfleet Green Road, Northfleet Green.  The 
site contains a public right of way that extends diagonally from the southwest corner to the 
northeast corner.  There are a number of electricity pylons across the site.  To the west is a 
field that already contains polytunnels that was approved by Dartford Borough Council in 2016. 

The proposed polytunnels are features that are becoming common in rural areas as they 
extend the growing season for produce.  Within the National Planning Policy Framework 
agricultural buildings and structures, which are permanently fixed to the ground are not 
considered to be inappropriate development within the Green Belt and therefore the principle of 
development is considered to be acceptable.  The proposed polytunnels are a sufficient 
distance away from residential properties to ensure there is no significant impact on properties 
in terms of loss of outlook, privacy, sunlight or daylight.  Vehicular access is taken from the 
adjacent site fronting New Barn Road and therefore there will be no detrimental impact in terms 
of parking or highway safety.

Page 71 Agenda Item 5c



Page 2 of 11

This development proposal is considered to be compliant with the relevant policies in the 
Council’s adopted Core Strategy, the relevant saved policies contained in the First Review and 
accords with National policy and guidance. Planning Permission, subject to the imposition of 
appropriate conditions is recommended accordingly. 

1. Proposal

1.1 The proposal is for the installation of polytunnels.

1.2 The application is accompanied by the following drawings and supporting documents:

 Application form received 5 November 2018
 Photographs received 5 November 2018
 Drawing nos. 9 and 10A, 12 received 5 November 2018
 Drawing no. 14 Rev A received 18 December 2018
 Schedule of landscaping impacts received 5 November 2018

2. Relevant Planning History

2.1 None relevant to this application.

3. Planning Policies

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
• CS01 – Sustainable Development
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
• CS07 – Economy, Employment and Skills
• CS11 – Transport
• CS18 – Climate Change
• CS19 - Design & Development Principles

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2018)
• Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
• Section 13 – Protecting Green Belt

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Page 72



Page 3 of 11

4.1 The following external consultees were invited to comment: Dartford Borough Council; 
Environment Agency; High Speed 1; KCC - West Kent Public Rights Of Way; National 
Grid; Rural Planning Ltd (Council’s Agricultural Advisor); and South Fleet Parish Council.

4.2 Internal and external consultee responses are detailed below:  

4.3 Regulatory Services

4.4 No comment received.

4.5 GBC Highway Development Management Officer

4.6 No objections but suggested consulting the railway operator who may have issues over the 
location of the surface water run off area.

4.7 High Speed 1

4.8 High Speed 1 was consulted and replied stating they have no comment to make.

4.9 Rural Planning Ltd

4.10 The applicants are a large scale established Kentish fruit growers.  It has been recognised 
for some years that the use of polytunnels is now a necessary part of modern soft fruit 
production.  The advantages is protecting crops from the wind and rain, reduce 
pesticide/fungicide use, extends the growing season, provides better yields and continuity 
of supply and greater ease of managing the plants and picking the fruits.  In effect, tunnels 
can be regarded as inherently required and appropriate for the purpose of modern UK soft 
fruit production.  Such tunnels have been allowed on many other holdings across the 
County, subject to other considerations such as particular landscape impacts, and also 
subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions.

4.11 KCC Public Rights of Way Officer

4.12 Public Rights of Way NU23 may be affected and therefore the officer has provided a map 
showing the definitive line of path for information.  They offer the following advice that can 
be added to the decision as an informative:

A public right of way must not be stopped up, diverted, obstructed or the surface disturbed 
and there must be no encroachment on the current width, at any time now or in the future.  
This includes any building materials or waste generated during any of the construction 
phases.  No furniture or fixtures may be erected on or across Public Rights of Way without 
the express consent of the Highways Authority. 

4.13 National Grid

4.14 Have raised no objection but have offered advice regarding apparatus in the vicinity which 
can be added to the decision notice as an informative should a planning permission be 
forthcoming. 

4.15 Southfleet Parish Council

4.16 Southfleet Parish Council has responded and has stated that they have found no 
difficulties with similar operations in this parish and therefore have no objections.

4.17 Ward Councillor - Cllr Turner

Page 73



Page 4 of 11

4.18 Cllr Turner has written stating that with the proliferation that is now experienced he would 
like to see conditions that reduce the perception of permanence: Perhaps dismantling for 
appropriate months.

4.19 Following the re-consultation the following comments were received:

4.20 Environment Agency 

Raise no objection to the proposed development or concerns regarding any risk to 
groundwater.  They add that no pesticides should be used, surface water management 
should be undertaken carefully to avoid any contamination of infiltration zones and all 
refuelling of vehicles should take place off-site.

4.21 Council’s Highway Development Management Officer raises no objection to the revised 
layout.

4.22 KCC Public Rights of Way Officer 

4.23 Raises no objection to the revised layout.

4.24 Rural Planning Ltd

4.25 Raises no objection to the revised layout. 

Publicity and Representations

4.26 This application was advertised by way of a site and press notice and 20 surrounding 
properties were consulted by direct mail.

4.27 The application was re-advertised when it became clear that work had begun on site and 
the tunnels were being laid in a different direction (north to south as opposed to east to 
west).

4.28 Eleven letters of objection have been received (three from the same person and 2 x two 
from the same address). The main objections/concerns raised are summarised below:

 Impact on residential amenity (privacy) on private space and public/children’s play 
area;

 Increase in number of farm workers and impact on privacy from manual workers all 
day and into the evening;

 Outlook from properties purchased less than three years ago;
 Impact on property value (not a material planning consideration);
 Increase in farm equipment, including vehicles and storage of farm equipment;
 Litter dropped by the worker in the fields blows over the adjacent sites;
 Loss of view from houses 20-30ft away;
 Increase in water run-off/soil erosion towards Hazels Farm;
 Impact on the footpath which often gets ploughed;
 Hedge will take a long time to develop;
 No wheel wash facilities to prevent roads getting muddy;
 No toilet facilities or rest area for workers;
 Noise from workers during the picking season;
 Loss of security to Hazells Farm development;

Page 74



Page 5 of 11

 Works have already started;
 Hedge stops short and should be extended further north;
 Noise from rustling plastic;
 Road safety issues from increased traffic;
 Increase in fly tipping/bottle bank/recycling centre often full of minibuses and buses
 Glare from polytunnels; and 
 Polytunnel code of conduct is not being adhered to.

4.29 Following the re-consultation the following comments were received:

4.30 Two neighbour objections received from the same person raising concern regarding 
surface water run-off in addition to his original concerns, which are covered in the list 
above, and a third reiterating the point from the first consultation that polytunnels should 
not be erected outside properties.

4.31 An additional letter has been received requesting a member site visit, raising concerns on 
the visual impact of the tunnels and the use of the land between the new hedge and the 
Northfleet Green Road.

5. Analysis

5.1 Background

5.2 The proposed polytunnels are to be installed in association with the agricultural use of land 
located to the west of Northfleet Green Road and is to be farmed in conjunction with the 
adjacent Scadbury Farm.  The land has been taken over by WB Chambers Ltd who farms 
the adjoining land to the west to produce raspberries.  The polytunnels are required to 
increase the yield of the land compared to its previous arable cropping and they can be 
removed when they are no longer required.  The increase in yield will create additional 
employment compared to the previous use.

5.3 The site extends to some 6.08ha and is located to the south of the high-speed railway line, 
to the west of the hamlet of Northfleet Green, to the north and west of Northfleet Green 
Road and to the east of Scadbury Manor. In Local Plan policy terms the site lies within the 
open country side and Green Belt. Additionally, the site is partially within the High Speed 1 
Safeguarding Zone. 

5.4 The site is screened to the north as part of the new railway line and the A2 is beyond, 
whilst to the east of the site lies the hamlet of Northfleet Green, where some original farm 
buildings have been converted to residential use. To the southern side of the site screening 
is provided along part of Northfleet Green Road, but at the eastern end there are two 
residential properties. Beyond these properties are some horse paddocks.  The site is 
crossed by high voltage power lines and there is a public footpath running diagonally 
across the site from southwest to northeast.

5.5 An existing polytunnel development is located to the west side of the current application 
site, within Dartford Borough and which was permitted by Dartford Borough Council in 
2016.  

5.6 Vehicular access is from New Barn Road through the adjacent polytunnel development.  
The site has a Grade 2 agricultural land classification and is therefore considered to be of 
high quality (best and most versatile land).

Page 75



Page 6 of 11

5.7 The polytunnels comprise a series of steel frame hoops fixed to the ground over which 
plastic sheeting is provided to protect crop growing underneath.  These structures will be 
fixed to the ground by posts, screwed or pushed into the top layer of soil to a depth of 0.8 
metre. They will have a maximum height 4.16m, with the shoulder of the hoop reaching 
1.7m in height. The polytunnels will also measuring approx. 12m in length, with a width of 
some 8m. 

5.8 As the ploytunnels frames are fixed to the ground, and bearing in mind the applicants have 
clearly indicated that the steel hoop frame are to remain all year round, the polytunnels 
constitute development within the meaning of Section 55 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended) (The Act) that, in this instance, requires planning 
permission.  In addition to the above, Section 336(1) of The Act defines a building as 
including “…any structure or erection, and any part of a building, as so defined…” This 
being the case, for the purpose of this application the steel frame hoops constitute a 
building for the purpose of this planning application.

5.9 The size of the polytunnels is dictated by the arrangement and height of the raspberry 
plants and to allow access for machinery, pickers and to optimise light levels.  The curve of 
the roof is designed to withstand wind and snow loading.  The polythene is chosen due to 
its filtering properties and needs to be clear to maximise photosynthesis.  The steel framed 
structure is left in the field throughout the year with the plastic covering limited to the 
growing season in each year when the protection for the crop is required.  The actual times 
when tunnels are covered are dependent on weather patterns which determine the timing 
and rate of growth of plants.  In general it is proposed to grow raspberries for early summer 
production with the need to cover tunnels in early March and remove plastic in 
August/September.  If the season is late or early then the coverage will need to be adjusted 
accordingly.  The applicant’s agent has confirmed in his supporting documentation that it is 
not possible to set specific dates for the tunnels to be covered and if it is necessary to limit 
coverage of tunnels it is suggested that it should be for no more than nine months in any 
calendar year.

5.10 Character, Appearance and Impact on the Green Belt

5.11 The site lies within the rural area and the Green Belt, as defined by the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy 2014. The character of the area is predominantly arable farmland 
however there are also four pylons cutting across the site. 

5.12 In terms of Green Belt policy, Paragraph 145 of the NPPF states “Local Planning Authority 
should regard the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt.” 
However, this paragraph also provides a closed list of a number of exceptions to this 
approach, which includes “buildings for agriculture and forestry.” (See Paragraph 145 a)).  
Agricultural polytunnels such as those proposed fall within this exception and are ‘not 
inappropriate’ development in the Green Belt, as defined by Paragraph 145 of the NPPF. 
Therefore, the issue of impact on the openness of the Green Belt or the need to 
demonstrate very special circumstances does not arise. 

5.13 Policy CS02 supports development in the rural area where it is compatible with national 
policies for protecting the Green Belt and other Policies in the Core Strategy.

5.14 The applicant has confirmed that for three months of the year the polytunnels would not be 
covered and for those months it is considered that the lightweight steel structures would 
blend into the landscape and would permit views through therefore having no harmful 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt.

5.15 When the structures are covered with plastic sheeting they would appear more solid, 

Page 76



Page 7 of 11

however, any impact on the wider character and appearance of the surrounding area is 
limited by the low level, curved form of the tunnels.  The cumulative impact of the 
development on the character and appearance of the rural area, particularly adjacent to 
existing polytunnels, is considered to be limited due to the proposed layout and grouping 
into five distinct blocks. This when combined with proposed screening will ensure no single 
viewpoint would include all the polytunnels.

5.16 The time when the polytunnels would be uncovered would coincide with the times of the 
year when the deciduous trees and hedgerows shed their leaves and where the site would 
be more visible and therefore a condition is recommended requiring the polytunnels to be 
uncovered for at least 3 months of the year.

5.17 The proposed represents a recognised agricultural development within the Green Belt 
which is now a common sight within the countryside across the country.  Consequently it is 
not considered that the proposed polytunnels would appear alien within the locality.  Any 
impact on the rural area should also be considered in light of the fact that the polytunnels 
would facilitate the growth of soft fruits and would benefit the local/rural economy by 
providing more jobs (i.e. fruit pickers) for a longer period throughout the year.  If planning 
permission is forthcoming, it is considered that a condition should be imposed seeking to 
ensure that the polytunnels are removed when they are no longer required.

5.18 The submitted plans show a new hedge planting along the eastern side of the land to 
provide a buffer between the polytunnels and the residential properties.  The main structure 
of the planting will be Italian Alder (Alnus Cardata) that retains its leaves until December, 
with under planting of Hawthorne and Hazel.  These could be interspersed with beech 
which does not shed leaves until March.  It is noted that this hedge will take time to grow 
however, once it has established it will aid in screening the tunnels from the surrounding 
residential settlement.  

5.19 There are some listed buildings located in the adjacent site that already contained 
polytunnels.  It is not considered that the proposed development will have any detrimental 
impact on these heritage assets.

5.20 The polytunnels will be set back either side of the footpath leaving spacing of some 4m.  
The County’s Public Right of Way Officer has raised no objection to the arrangements of 
the polytunnels.

5.21 The proposed development is considered to comply with the objectives of paragraph 145 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy CS02 and CS19 of the Core Strategy.

5.22 The application site is located within the Istead Arable Farmlands in the Gravesham 
Landscape Character Assessment.  The topography is gently undulating allowing wide, 
open views out towards the urban edge of Gravesend and the CTRL to the north.  To the 
northwest the landscape is dominated by open arable agricultural land divided by tracks 
and roads.  To the south east there are native hedgerows and occasional poplar belts.  The 
fields are medium to large and form a regular pattern with boundaries running distinctly 
from north to south and east to west.

5.23 The condition of the landscape is considered poor due to the dominating electricity pylons 
which are a significant visual detractor within the landscape.  The guidelines aspire to 
restore distinctive features and create landscape elements that support the landscape 
character.  Whilst the proposed development does not restore distinctive features, it does 
introduce features that are becoming more common in agricultural areas and are in 
keeping with the adjacent field where there are already polytunnels.

Page 77



Page 8 of 11

5.22 Neighbouring Amenity

5.23 The nearest property is Elm Tree Cottage to the south of the proposed polytunnels.  This 
property is approx. 37m away.  The proposed polytunnels are at least 80m away from the 
nearest residential properties to the east of the site.  Due to the distances involved, there 
will be no loss of outlook to these properties.  Many of the objections relate to loss of view.  
Whilst it is appreciated that the view from these properties will change, there is no ‘right to 
a view’ in planning terms.  The applicants have proposed a screening hedge which will be 
in leaf up until December when the polythene sheeting is likely to be removed for a short 
period, up to 3 month.  The hedge will take some time to mature, however once is has it 
will go some way to screening the polytunnels.  A condition is recommended that this 
planting is carried out within the first growing season after the commencement of the 
development and maintained in perpetuity.  The proposed hedge will extend to the pylon at 
the most north-eastern point, in line with the northern most property at Hazells Farm.  It 
does not extend further north than this and it is noted there is an existing hedge on the 
boundary of this property that will also aid in screening the development.  

5.24 In September 2005, the National Farmers Union and the British Summer Fruits Ltd 
published a voluntary code of practice in response to a perception that relations between 
growers and some of their neighbours had polarised over issues such as visual impact, 
noise and drainage.  The code is not a material planning consideration as it is not adopted 
by the Council however attention to it can be raised to the applicant by way of an 
informative.  The code incudes, amongst other things, proposals that farmers;

1) Avoid damaging views by planting hedgerows and trees

2) Use less luminant plastic to reduce glare

3) Avoid siting polytunnels within 30 metres of residential dwellings

4) Take steps to reduce surface water run-off

5) Limit working hours

6) Prepare landscape impact maps and adopt measures to mitigate visual impact.

5.25 Whilst it is not something the Council can insist upon, the application includes the 
plantation of hedgerows and trees for screening purposes. Additionally, the applicants have 
confirmed that plastic will be transparent, as required by the plants. Furthermore, the 
applicant has advised that they have sited the proposed polytunnels over 37m away from 
the nearest residential property at Elm Tree Cottage and over 80m from all other residential 
properties, and have taken steps to reduce surface water run-off.  Working hours are 
limited by daylight, as is the case at the neighbouring polytunnel development.  The 
submitted plans also show the mitigation measures planned to reduce visual impact.

5.26 In summary, the proposed polytunnel development will have no significant detrimental 
impact to neighbouring dwellings in terms of amenity generally, including loss of outlook, 
privacy, sunlight or daylight. As such the development is considered to be in accordance 
with Policy CS19 of the adopted Core Strategy and paragraph 127 f) of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

5.27 Parking and Highways

5.28 The vehicle access will be as existing from the access point in New Barn Road that was 
improved as part of the requirements when Dartford Borough Council granted planning 
permission for the adjoining development in their jurisdiction, when it was granted planning 

Page 78



Page 9 of 11

consent by them in 2016.  Private vehicles will not be visiting the site and farm workers will 
be transported to and from the site using minibuses. It is possible for cars and HGVs to 
park in the lay-by in New Barn Road from where the fields can be accessed on foot. No 
objections have been raised by the Council’s Highway Development Management Officer 
and the development is considered to be acceptable in this regard and accord with Policy 
CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

5.29 High Speed 1 Safeguarding Zone.

5.30 As stated above, a small part of the site lies within the High Speed 1 Safeguarding Zone. 
Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 states at paragraph 5.5.42 
“Land required for the possible future extension of Crossrail and to protect the High Speed 
1 (HS1) railway is safeguarded on the Policies Map and proposals that would prejudice 
these will be refused.”

5.31 The Council has consulted with High Speed 1, who responded advising they have no 
comment to make. It is clear from the submitted details that this development will not 
prejudice either the possible future extension of Crossrail or the protection currently 
afforded to High Speed 1 railway. This being the case, the development is considered to be 
acceptable in this regard when assessed against Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy 2014.

5.32 Surface water run-off

5.33 When the polytunnels are covered with polythene, the water run-off is channelled into leg 
rows between the tunnels and flows in the direction of the landfall, as shown on the 
submitted plan.  At the northern end of the tunnels an area of grass is being providing that 
will allow for slowing of the surface water run-off and enabling it to percolate into the 
subsoil, which is chalk overlain with Thanet sand. When the tunnel hoops are uncovered, 
normally during the winter period between December and February/March, the surface 
water will run-off in a similar way to the present open field arrangement. The land level 
increases to the boundary of the railway, which will effectively stop any water from flowing 
off the field onto the railway line. The Environment Agency has been consulted, as have 
High Speed 1 and they have raised no objection to the plans or advise they have no 
comment to make.  The proposals therefore accord with Policy CS18 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

6. Conclusions

6.1 The proposed polytunnels are not inappropriate development within the Green Belt and are 
considered to be acceptable in terms of their impact on the character and appearance of 
the rural area or surrounding property in general. 

6.2 The proposed polytunnels are a sufficient distance away from residential properties to 
ensure there is no significant impact on the amenities of those properties, including in 
terms of loss of outlook, privacy, sunlight or daylight.  

6.3 Vehicular access is taken from the adjacent site fronting New Barn Road and no 
detrimental impact in terms of parking or highway safety are considered to arise. 
Furthermore, the development is considered to be acceptable in terms of the High Speed 1 
Safeguarding Zone and surface water runoff. 

6.4 Bearing all of the above factors in mind, this development is considered to be compliant 
with the relevant policies in the Council’s Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, the 

Page 79



Page 10 of 11

relevant saved policies contained in the First Review and accords with National policy and 
guidance. Planning Permission, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions, is 
recommended accordingly. 

_________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation:

The recommendation is for the application to be GRANTED PLANNING PERMISSION subject to 
the conditions, which are set out below.

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:

 Photographs received 5 November 2018
 Drawing nos. 9 and 10A, 12 received 5 November 2018
 Drawing no. 14 Rev A received 18 December 2018
 Schedule of landscaping impacts received 5 November 2018

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. The landscaping scheme, hereby approved as an integral part of the development, shall be 
implemented during the first planting season (between October and March inclusive) 
following the commencement of the development of the development and shall thereafter 
be maintained for a period of five years. Any trees, shrubs or grassed areas which die, are 
diseased or vandalised within this period shall be replaced within the next planting season. 

Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the locality and the surrounding area in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy.

4. The polytunnels, as hereby permitted, shall all at the same time be covered with plastic 
sheeting for no more than nine consecutive months in any calendar year. For the 
remaining period the polytunnels shall be un-covered.

Reason:  To safeguard the character and appearance of the countryside and openness of 
the Green Belt in accordance with Policy CS02 and CS19 of the Core Strategy 2004 and 
para. 145 of the NPPF.

5. There shall be no open storage of materials, plant or equipment on any part of the site.

Reason:  To safeguard the character and appearance of the countryside and openness of 
the Green Belt in accordance with Policy CS02 and CS19 of the Core Strategy 2004 and 
para. 145 of the NPPF.

6. No surface water shall be allowed to run off beyond the application site or onto a public 
highway.

Reason:  To accord with the drainage strategy hereby approved and to ensure satisfactory 
means of surface water drainage in accordance with Policy CS18 of the Core Strategy.

Page 80



Page 11 of 11

7. Any polytunnels and associated equipment used in connection with the structure shall be 
permanently removed from the application site in the event that the land ceases to be used 
for soft fruit production.

Reason:  To safeguard the character and appearance of the countryside and openness of 
the Green Belt in accordance with Policy CS02 and CS19 of the Core Strategy 2004 and 
para. 145 of the NPPF.

8. Notwithstanding the approved plans, within 2 months of the date of this permission, full 
details of any toilets and washing facilities proposed, including details of where they are to 
be located on the site and a timescale for their provision, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the toilets and washing 
facilities shall be provided in the location and within the timescale agreed pursuant to this 
condition. Thereafter the toilets and washing facilities shall be maintained in accordance 
with the approved details, until the polytunnels have be permanently removed from the 
application site in accordance with condition 7 above.

Reason:  To safeguard the character and appearance of the countryside and openness of 
the Green Belt in accordance with Policy CS02 and CS19 of the Core Strategy 2004 and 
para. 145 of the NPPF.

INFORMATIVES:-

1 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

2 THE APPLICANT’S ATTENTION IS RAISED TO THE NATIONAL FARMERS UNION 
CODE OF PRACTICE FOR POLYTUNNELS

3 IF THE SURFACES OF THE PUBLIC FOOTPATHS WHICH CROSS THE SITE ARE 
DISTURBED BY THE AGRICULTURAL PROCESSES TAKING PLACE ON THE SITE, 
THEN THEY SHALL BE IMMEDIATELY REINSTATED TO A CONDITION THAT IS 
SUITABLE FOR PEDESTRIANS TO USE.

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Green

The

Pond

LB

SL

BS

BB

Northfleet Green

CB

1

5

4
7

2

Def

GP

RH
ETL

ETL

1

1
Def

De
f

SL

Pond

ETL

SL

Def

RH

ETL

20181155 Land West of Northfleet Green
Gravesend

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 90 18045 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:5,000

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20181030

Site Address: St Andrew's Arts Centre, Royal Pier Road, Gravesend

Application 
Description:

Application for Listed Building Consent for the repair of river wall at 
north west corner.

Applicant: Gravesham Borough Council

Agent: Mr Jamie Cook, Colin Toms And Partners LLP

Ward: Riverside

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: 28 November 2018 - *Extension of time until 8 February 2019*

Publicity Expiry Date: 09 November 2018

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board – 6 February 2019

Reason for referral: The application is Gravesham Borough Council

Recommendation: Listed Building Consent be Granted, subject to the conditions 
detailed at the end of the report.  

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

Subject to conditions it is considered that the proposed repair works to the river wall would 
preserve this listed building and its architectural and historic interest, would not cause harm to the 
setting of the adjacent listed Mission House and would enhance the character and appearance of 
the Riverside Conservation Area.  

It is recommended that Listed Building Consent be Granted, subject to the imposition of 
conditions as detailed at the end of this report.   

1. Proposal 

1.1 The proposal is for Listed Building Consent for the repair of the river wall at the north west 
corner of St Andrews Arts Centre

1.2 St Andrews Arts Centre is a grade II listed building and is situated in the Riverside 
Conservation Area.  It is also in an Area of Archaeological Potential and in Flood Zone 3.  

1.3 The application consists of the following documents/plans:

 Application form;
 Drawing no. A4761-001 Revision P1 (Condition Survey of Existing Wall);
 Drawing no. A4761-010 Revision T4 (Site Plan)

Page 85 Agenda Item 5d



 Drawing no. A4761-021 Revision T2 (Repair Works to Sea Wall Front Elevation);
 Drawing no. A4761-022 Revision T2 (Repair Works to Sea Wall Side Elevation);
 Photograph showing the north and western elevations of St Andrews Art Centre; 

and
 Photograph showing a close up view of the north western corner of the river wall.

2. Relevant Planning History

20181058

 

Consultation on application for a 
marine licence.

Observations sent 02.11.2018

3. Development Plan

Policies/Legislation:

The Council has a statutory requirement under Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in considering whether to grant listed building 
consent for any works to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or 
its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  

Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as 
amended states that with respect to buildings or other land in a conservation area, special 
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is national policy in the conservation and 
enhancement of the historic environment which must be taken into account by the Council 
together with the related guidance given in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).

The Council must have regard to its development plan where material in considering whether 
to grant listed building consent for any works.

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
 CS01 – Sustainable Development
 CS20 – Heritage and the Historic Environment

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
• TC2 – Listed Buildings
• TC3 – Development Affecting Conservation Areas

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2018)
• Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
• Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Also related guidance is given in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) - Conserving and 
enhancing the historic environment.

Supplementary Planning Guidance

 Gravesend Riverside Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2009)

Page 86



 Management Plan – Gravesend Town Centre Conservation Areas (2009)

3.  Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Internal

Conservation Architect

“The proposed re-building of the north west corner of the river wall offers the opportunity to 
reverse poorly executed repairs in non-matching granite.

It will be important to ensure that the brick chosen is a good match to the existing brick wall 
adjacent to the repair area.  To this end I am concerned that the drawings refer to a 
requirement for bricks to have a minimum compressive strength of 50N/mm squared and 
water absorption of less than 7%.  I doubt the adjacent brickwork, which has been in place in 
excess of 100 years, could match these over engineered specification requirements.  I would 
advise that notwithstanding the drawings that a condition should be applied for the 
submission of a suitable brick to match the adjacent existing brickwork should be submitted 
for approval and should be based on analysis of a sample of the adjacent original brick wall.  
A 1 metre square sample panel should then be constructed showing the brick, bond, mortar 
and pointing finish which should be approved in writing and this should remain on site until 
completion of the repairs.

It would also be advisable to ensure that all existing external coping, paving and railings 
(including those removed for the site access and compound) are restored on completed of 
the works…”

External 

KCC Heritage

No response.

Publicity

The application was advertised by way of a press notice and a notice displayed on site 
with an overall consultation expiry date of 9 November 2018; no responses have been 
received.  There is no statutory requirement for neighbour letters to be sent for Listed 
Building Consent applications.  

4. Service Manager (Development Management) Comments

The principal considerations in the assessment of this application are whether the proposed 
works would preserve the listed building or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses and the effect of the proposal on the setting of the adjacent listed 
building and the character and appearance of the Gravesend Riverside Conservation Area. 

St Andrews Arts Centre was constructed in 1870-71 and was designed by the renowned 
architect GE Street who also designed the Royal Courts of Justice in London’s Fleet Street.  
It was originally built as a mission chapel for seamen and known as St Andrew’s Waterside 
Chapel.  It is built in the gothic style in ragstone with Bath stone dressings and a slate roof.  
Immediately adjoining the site to the east is the Mission House that dates from the 18th 

Page 87



century which was formally a public house and used as a mission prior to St Andrews 
Chapel being constructed; it is now a private dwelling and is also grade II listed.  

The river wall that is surrounding St Andrews Arts Centre on its northern and western sides 
is in need of repair works at its north-western corner.  It would appear that past repairs have 
come to the end of their life and in any case have not been carried out in a sympathetic 
manner.  

In order for the works to be carried out a cofferdam would be installed which would be 
continuously pumped to maintain a dry excavation whilst work takes place.  Around each of 
the areas of repair, which are fully detailed on the submitted plans, it is proposed to remove 
the first 500mm of render beyond the extent of repair in each direction.  Any hollow/loose 
render would be chipped off and any fully bonded render would to be removed using an 
angle grinder to 2/3 depth with the last 1/3 mechanically chipped off.  The York stones on the 
top of the wall would be removed carefully and stored for re-use once the repairs have been 
carried out.  

The facing brickwork wall would be carefully dismantled to foundation level to expose the 
concrete inner core behind.  Any delaminated or deteriorated concrete would be removed by 
mechanical or high pressure water methods.  The concrete inner core and foundation would 
be inspected to assess its condition and to agree the necessary repair works to the concrete 
inner core.  Formwork and cast concrete would be installed to repair any areas of the 
concrete inner core that are deemed to be needed which would match the original profile.  
Stainless steel dowel bars would be installed into the existing concrete foundation to connect 
through to a new mass concrete foundation that would be installed.  The facing brickwork 
wall would then be rebuilt fully bonding into the existing surrounding brickwork using a lime 
mortar (NHL5) in an English bond. The new brickwork is to have a minimum compressive 
strength of 50 N/mn² and a water absorption capacity of less than 7% with the colour of the 
brickwork to match the existing.  It is proposed for Helibars to be fixed between the new and 
the existing brickwork. Lastly the York stones would be re-fixed to the top of the wall using 
non-ferrous metal cramps.       

The Conservation Architect raises no objections in principle to the proposal but he advises it 
will be important that the new brick work for the rebuilt facing wall will need to be a good 
match to the brick wall adjacent to the repair area.  There is concern expressed at the 
engineering specification for the proposed bricks with the Conservation Architect stating that 
the brickwork in the adjacent area would not be able to match these requirements.  The 
Conservation Architect requests that notwithstanding the annotations on the drawings, a 
condition would be required requesting a sample of a suitable brick which should be based 
on an analysis of the adjacent existing brickwork in the wall and that a sample panel should 
be prepared on site; details of the brick, bond, mortar and pointing finish are also requested.  
The Conservation Architect also advises that it would be prudent to attach a condition stating 
that any fabric to be removed such as external coping, paving and railings are put back once 
the work has been completed.   

It is clear that the existing north-eastern corner of the wall is in need of repair with visible 
signs of cracking, holes and damaged render.  Inappropriate methods and materials for 
repair can be seen to have been used previously and this proposal would therefore allow for 
these to be removed.  The proposed methods of repair are extensive but given the practical 
requirements of the site they are not considered to be excessive.  The repair works are 
generally considered to be of a sympathetic manner and which would help to preserve this 
part of the sea wall for the future.  With conditions in place to control the matter of the 
brickwork for the facing wall in terms of a sample of the brick and details of the brick bond, 
mortar mix and pointing finish, and also to ensure that any architectural features that are 
removed are reinstated, it is considered that the repair works for which listed building 

Page 88



consent is sought would preserve the special architectural and historic of this grade II listed 
building and the setting of the adjacent listed building and would not cause harm.

The proposals are also considered to cause no harm to the character or appearance of the 
Riverside Conservation Area; they would in fact enhance it by reversing previous 
inappropriate repairs works and improving the appearance of this part of the wall ensuring its 
preservation for the future.   

Archaeology – The site is situated in an Area of Archaeological Potential.  The works involve 
the laying of a new foundation to part of the river wall structure and the installation of a 
cofferdam for the duration of the works.  

KCC Archaeology has been consulted on the proposal but no comments have been 
received.  It is recommended that given the site’s location in an Area of Archaeological 
Potential, a condition is attached to the effect of a watching brief for any potential 
archaeology.  Subject to this, it is considered the proposal would protect this area of 
archaeological potential.

Other matters

Consultation with Historic England – If Members are minded to approve the application, as 
Gravesham Borough Council is the applicant, Historic England would need to be consulted 
on the application to ascertain whether they would wish for the application to be referred to 
the Secretary of State.  

Road closure – The end part of Royal Pier Road to the west of St Andrews Arts Centre 
would be closed during the duration of the works but with access to St Andrews Arts Centre 
and Mission House to be maintained at all times throughout.  The applicant states they will 
liaise with Kent Highways to arrange the road closure.  The closure of the road during the 
works would not be a material planning consideration.  

5. Conclusion

Subject to conditions, it is considered that the proposal would preserve the listed building 
and its architectural and historic interest, would not cause harm to the setting of the adjacent 
listed Mission House or the character or appearance of the Riverside Conservation Area but 
would enhance it and would not cause harm to archaeology.  The proposal would therefore 
meet the requirements of sections 16(2) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and would comply with Policy CS20 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy and saved Policies TC2 and TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review.   

_________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

Listed Building Consent be Granted, subject to the imposition of the following conditions: 
 
1. The development to which this listed building consent relates must be begun not later 

than the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this consent is 
granted.

Reason In accordance with the provisions of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Page 89



2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in precise accordance with the 
following submitted plans and particulars and pursuant to any condition hereinafter 
contained and there shall be no deviation therefrom without the prior permission in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority:-  

 Application form;
 Drawing no. A4761-001 Revision P1 (Condition Survey of Existing Wall);
 Drawing no. A4761-010 Revision T4 (Site Plan)
 Drawing no. A4761-021 Revision T2 (Repair Works to Sea Wall Front Elevation);
 Drawing no. A4761-022 Revision T2 (Repair Works to Sea Wall Side Elevation);
 Photograph showing the north and western elevations of St Andrews Art Centre; 

and
 Photograph showing a close up view of the north western corner of the river wall.

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (September 2014).

3. Notwithstanding the details included on the application form and plans, hereby 
approved, no rebuilding of the facing brick wall shall take place on site until:

A) A sample of the brick to be used and details of the brick bond, mortar mix and 
pointing finish have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority;

B) A sample panel of materials, measuring not less than 1 metre by 1 metre, approved 
pursuant to condition 3.A) above, including the brick, brick bond, mortar, mortar mix and 
pointing finish has been constructed on site and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the 
approved sample panel shall remain on site until completion of the approved repair work 
to the river wall. Thereafter, the development shall be maintained in accordance with the 
details approved pursuant to this condition.  

Reason In the interests of protecting the special architectural and historic character of 
this grade II Listed Building and the character and appearance of the Riverside 
Conservation Area pursuant to Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy (September 2014) and saved Policies TC2 and TC3 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan First Review 1994.

4. All existing external coping, paving and railings that are to be temporarily removed 
during the duration of the works to allow works to take place (including those to be 
removed to allow site access and for the site compound) shall be safely stored and re-
instated on completion of the works.

Reason In the interests of protecting the special architectural and historic character of 
this grade II Listed Building and the character and appearance of the Riverside 
Conservation Area pursuant to Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy (September 2014) and saved Policies TC2 and TC3 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan First Review 1994.

Page 90



INFORMATIVES:-

1. DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED PLANS

It is possible that any proposed deviation from the approved plans could be classed as a 
'material' change requiring a further application/permission.  In the event that any change is 
proposed, applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority [as 
proceeding without the necessary permissions could nullify this permission].

2.  BUILDING REGULATION CONSENT

The granting of planning permission is independent from the granting of Building Regulations 
consent (which may, or may not, be required).  In the event of a change to the scheme 
granted planning permission being required to satisfy the Building Regulations, applicants 
are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority [as proceeding without the 
necessary permissions could nullify this permission].

3.  INFORMATION REGARDING CONDITION 3

Concerns have been raised regarding the engineering brick proposed for the rebuilding of 
the facing brick wall. This being the case a more suitable brick, which matches the existing 
brickwork adjoining the repair works should be submitted for approval. The alterative brick 
propose pursuant to condition 3 should be based on analysis of a sample of the adjacent 
original brick wall.  

4.  STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND CREATIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-TAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2018), the Local Planning Authority has 
approached the assessment and determination of this application in a positive and creative 
way and, where appropriate, has worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a 
development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the Development Plan for the area.

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



5
1 4

Mud

Gardens

Car Park

Picnic Area

St 
An

dre
ws

Mud and Shingle

65

5a

27

60

29

19

El

Hotel

Shingle

Sta

Cr
os

s S
tre

et

BULL YARD

PH

Town Pier Pontoon

HORN YARD

St Andrews Court

THE TERRACE

Post

CROOKED LANE

BANK STREET

NE
W 

SW
AN

 YA
RD

Posts

1 to 4 5.0m 5.2m
4.6m

MLW

1 to 30

1 t
o 1

214.6m

Shelter

13
 to

 24 37 to 48
25 to 36

61 to 74

49
 to

 60

100 to 137

Mean High Water

Royal Pier Mews

Car Park

Posts

20181030 - St Andrew's Art Centre,
Gravesend

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 20 4010 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:1,250

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20140550 - Demolition of existing building and erection of a four/five storey building at Former Guru Nanak Gurdwara, Clarence Place, Gravesend - report herewith
	02 - 20140550 - Appendix 1
	03 - 20140550 - Appendix 2
	04 - 20140550 - Appendix 3
	05 - Location Map - Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara, Clarence Place

	5b 20181206 - Gurdwara Temple Guru Nanak Marg, Gravesend - report herewith
	02 - Gurdwara Temple Guru Nanak Marg 20181206

	5c 20181155 - Installation of Polytunnels at Land West of Northfleet Green, Gravesend - report herewith
	02 - Land West of Northfleet Green 20181155

	5d 20181030 - St Andrew's Arts Centre, Royal Pier Road, Gravesend - report herewith
	St Andrew's Art Centre, Gravesend


